
2016
Annual Report





2016 Annual Report | 1

Annual Report 2
1. Transmittal letter 3

2. Chairman’s Report 2016 4

3. Executive Director’s Report 2016 6

4. Our Organisation and Governance 8

5. Our Achievements 21

6. Matters Arising from External Sources 31

7. Work of the Secretariat 37

8. NSW Summary Statistics 42

9.  Summary Statistics for Diocesan and  
Congregational Schools 47

10. School Resourcing 53

11. Legislative Compliance And Monitoring 57

Appendices 58
12. Appendix A: Financial Statements 1

13. Appendix B 23

Contents



2016
Annual Report



2016 Annual Report | 3

Most Reverend Michael McKenna 
Secretary 
Trustees of the Province of Sydney and 
Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn 
118 Keppel Street 
BATHURST NSW 2795 

My Lord, 

It is with great pleasure that I submit the 2016 Annual Report of the Catholic Education 
Commission New South Wales (CECNSW) for the consideration of The Trustees of the 
Province of Sydney and Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn. 

In accord with its Charter from the Bishops, CECNSW continues to carry out its role of 
overseeing the disbursement of funds from the Australian and NSW Governments as well as 
representing the Catholic Schools sector and advocating on its behalf. This is evident in 
this report. 

I commend the 2016 CECNSW Annual Report to the NSW/ACT Bishops.

Yours fraternally in Christ

Bishop Peter A Comensoli DD 
Chairman

1 Transmittal letter
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Your Graces, my Lords.

It is an honour to present my third report as Chairman of 
Catholic Education Commission NSW (CECNSW). It has 
been a great joy to participate in the work of CECNSW, 
and there is much to report.

2015 marked the formal beginnings of a major review of the  
governance structure of NSW Catholic schooling, which 
progressed throughout 2016, leading to a proposal approved by 
the NSW Bishops in March 2017. The Bishops have decided to 
establish a new company, called Catholic Schools NSW, to 
commence on 1 July 2017 as the overarching governance entity 
for Catholic systemic schools in NSW. There will be a six months’ 
transition and Catholic Schools NSW will replace CECNSW as 
the Approved System Authority for State and Commonwealth 
funding, set policy on compliance and audit, and build on the 
work of efficiencies and improvements. CSNSW aims to deliver a 
new governance structure that will bring improvements in policy 
and educational strategy, better sharing of resources and 
greater opportunities for cooperation within the NSW Catholic 
schools system.

Two new Commissioners were welcomed in February 2017 – 
Dr Michael Slattery, who replaced Ray Collins as the new Director 
of Schools for Maitland-Newcastle, and Ross Fox, who took over 
from Moira Najdecki as Director of Education in the Archdiocese 
of Canberra and Goulburn. We wish Ray and Moira well in their 
respective retirements. In mid-2016, Bishop Michael Kennedy 
also resigned as commissioner because of work commitments. 
Finally, we also farewelled Michele Hugonnet in December 2016. 
Michele, a Trustee for Mary Aikenhead Ministries, was a nominee 
of the Conference of Leaders of Religious Institutes. She has 
resigned to pursue her canonical studies in Belgium and we wish 
her well in that important endeavour. Given the organisational 
changes about to commence, the Bishops’ and CLRI’s vacancies 
were not filled.

It was with much sadness that we learnt of the death of three key 
figures in Catholic education during 2016. They will be sorely 
missed. Former Commissioner Sister Marilyn Kelleher sgs passed 
away in March 2016. Sister Marilyn served as a commissioner 
from 1993 until 2001 as a nominee of the Conference of 
Leaders of Religious Institutes and had been Principal at Stella 
Maris College, Manly. In April 2016, the foundation Executive 
Officer of the Council of Catholic School Parents, Roger O’Sullivan, 
was also laid to rest. Roger brought a strong sense of 
professionalism and purpose to the CCSP, which has been 
built on subsequently by Danielle Cronin and Linda McNeil. 
In November 2016, we lost Stephen Aitken after a long battle 
with spinal cancer. Stephen had been the Executive Officer of 
the Association of Catholic School Principals. An enthusiastic, 
experienced and knowledgeable Catholic educator, Stephen 
had previously served as Principal at four Catholic colleges.

Throughout 2016, CECNSW continued to advocate on behalf of 
Catholic schools with the governments and their agencies with 
great success.

The Federal election on 2 July 2016 saw the Liberal-National 
Coalition government returned to office, but with the future of 
recurrent schools funding beyond 2017 still unclear at the time 
of writing, despite specific requests from the NCEC and others. 
In August 2016, NSW Education Minister the Hon. Adrian Piccoli 
MP attended the monthly Commission meeting and discussed 
several key topics with commissioners including NAPLAN 
outcomes, Not for Profit guidelines for schools and new 
governance requirements, building and funding of new 
schools and the review of BOSTES (now replaced by NESA).

2 Chairman’s Report 2016
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In December 2016, the 2016 Brother John Taylor Fellowship 
was awarded to Ms Kim Moroney of the Diocese of Maitland-
Newcastle to study the importance of play in developing a 
child’s learning ability. Kim, an early learning specialist, received 
her Fellowship on 12 December 2016 at a ceremony at the Early 
Learning Centre at Our Lady of Good Counsel Primary 
School, Forestville.

In a special way, I personally want to acknowledge the 
contribution of Dr Brian Croke, the long-time Executive Director 
of CECNSW. Brian has provided outstanding leadership and 
expertise during his many years in Catholic education. Under 
Brian’s leadership, Catholic schools in NSW have achieved a 
fairer share of government funding. He has also been instrumental 
in many of the biggest reforms in school education in NSW in 
recent years, including robust curriculum development, new 
teacher training standards and the establishment of the NSW 
Educational Standards Authority (and its predecessor, BOSTES). 
I wish to express my deep personal thanks to Brian, his leadership 
team, and all the staff in the CECNSW Secretariat for their 
professionalism and dedication. Their work enables the whole 
enterprise of Catholic education in NSW to meet the challenges 
that arise often at short notice and find acceptable ways forward. 
The Bishops are indebted to them.

I commend the 2016 CECNSW Annual Report to my brother 
Bishops and all stakeholders of CECNSW.

Bishop Peter A Comensoli DD
Chairman



6 | Catholic Education Commission NSW

2016 was a particularly challenging year for the Catholic Education 
Commission NSW both externally, in terms of new government 
entities and requirements, and internally, in terms of contributing 
constructively to the complete redesign of the structures which 
govern the NSW Catholic school system as well as the 
congregational schools.

Leadership Support 
At the outset may I express my thanks to commissioners for 
their support and prayers during my leave of absence from early 
October due to serious illness and subsequent recuperation. I am 
particularly grateful to Ian Baker, Director of Education Policy 
and Programs for stepping into the role during this time of 
significant change and challenge. Your prayers and practical 
support have enabled me to return to my role recovered and 
refreshed in 2017.

Grants Distribution and Accountability
In 2016, commissioners approved a further degree of 
redistribution of Commonwealth and State recurrent grants to 
take effect in 2017 as a first in a new funding formula across 
the NSW Catholic schools system. 

The NSW Budget for 2016–17 included a modest increase 
in total funding for non-government schools and a new and 
separate allocation available to all schools who educate students 
accepted into Australia as refugees from Syria and Iraq. Dioceses 
in keeping with our mission were very happy to work with the 
government to assist these refugees.

The increased Financial Accountability requirements to the 
Australian and NSW governments for 2015 were made more 
demanding by the complex structure of the Catholic system in 
NSW of 543 schools, 11 diocesan catholic schools authorities 
and the CECNSW itself. However, the CECNSW with the 
co-operation of the 11 Diocesan Catholic Schools Authorities 
were able to meet this challenge for 2015 by 30 June 2016. 
Further enhancements to accountability procedures and data 
collection will be available for the 2016 school financial year.

Projected Growth of the Catholic Sector  
2017–2027
There were 255,738 full-time students in NSW Catholic schools 
in 2016 with both primary and secondary showing a slight 
increase from 2015. Particularly noteworthy is that Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander students now constitute 3% of the 
student population. However, given the projected increase in the 
student population of NSW as a whole in the next decade and 
particularly in metropolitan and regional centres, Catholic 
education faces the challenge of finding 40,000 new student 
places to maintain current sectoral proportion. Commissioners 
are well aware that the NSW government is seeking CECNSW’s 
cooperation in addressing this huge growth pattern. Aware too 
that a proper balance needs to be kept regarding Catholic/
non-Catholic enrolment, commissioners agreed that a state-
wide solution needs to be found. This will present a major 
challenge for the next few years. 

Royal Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse
With the hearings of the Royal Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse drawing to a close at the end 
of 2016 and in to 2017 Catholic education authorities will need 
to be especially attentive to its recommendations regarding the 
safeguarding of children in our care. Although Catholic schools 
have made great strides in child protection in recent years, 
vigilance remains an essential requirement. Catholic school 
enrolments may not have suffered directly but the standing of 
the Catholic Church in the wider community has certainly 
diminished. Catholic schools can play a significant role in 
restoring confidence in our Church particularly for the 
forthcoming generations.

3 Executive Director’s Report 2016
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NSW Board of Studies, Teaching and 
Educational Standards (BOSTES): 
Review and Replacement
Following a review of BOSTES, to which CECNSW made a 
substantial submission, the NSW government established the 
NSW Education Standards Authority (NESA) effective January 
2017. As a ministerial appointee to BOSTES and re-confirmed to 
NESA, on behalf of Catholic schools I have welcomed the 
opportunity to engage with cross-sectoral representatives from 
a wide range of institutions in ensuring NSW students have 
access to the highest quality curriculum and teaching standards. 
The Board’s most recent achievement was the launching of a 
strengthened HSC for a new generation of students. CECNSW 
has been widely acclaimed for the quality of its submissions to 
various BOSTES initiatives, including ensuring that the values 
embedded in the PDHPE syllabus do not run contrary to 
Catholic values.

Through a number of projects, state and federally funded, 
CECNSW has developed effective and amicable cross-sectoral 
relationships to the benefit of all students in NSW. This provides 
a sound basis for Catholic schools involvement in the process of 
moving the NAPLAN Tests from pen and paper to an 
online format. 

New Governance Arrangements for 
Catholic Education in NSW
Following the Review by Kathryn Greiner and her Report to the 
Bishops of NSW/ACT in March 2016, the Bishops of NSW/ACT 
established a Task Force to progress the structural issues they 
considered most urgent. The Task Force’s recommendations 
were presented to the NSW Bishops in November 2016 and 
finally agreed to in March 2017, resulting in a decision to 
dissolve the CECNSW and establish Catholic Schools NSW 
(CSNSW) as the overarching entity for Catholic education in NSW

CSNSW will be established as a company limited by guarantee, 
whose members will be the Bishops of the eleven dioceses in NSW.

The members will appoint a Board of Directors who will have 
responsibility for the operations of the company. The Board is 
to appoint a Chief Executive Officer for CSNSW as soon as 
practicable and from 1 July 2017 its members will replace 
existing CECNSW commissioners. The new Company will become 
the approved system authority for State and Commonwealth 
funding. The role of dioceses in school education will remain 
unchanged under the new arrangements.

The establishment of CSNSW is the most significant change in 
the governance of Catholic education in NSW since 1974 when 
the NSW bishops established the CECNSW. CECNSW has served 
Catholic education well for a period of over 40 years through 
numerous changes of government, state and national, endless 
variations of government funding, not to mention the enormous 
growth in the Catholic schooling sector itself. Many bishops 
have been inducted into the challenges facing Catholic education 
through their appointments as commissioners. They contributed 
significantly to the resolution and many issues in conjunction 
with the efforts and wisdom of other commissioners. Keeping 
the mission and identity of Catholic schools foremost in their 
decision-making, while complying with a myriad of legislative 
and demographic changes, has been an enormous achievement 
of CECNSW.

I am grateful for the privilege of serving as the Executive 
Director of CECNSW for some 24 years alongside outstanding 
Chairmen, Archbishop James Carroll then Bishops Patrick Murphy, 
Geoffrey Robinson and David Walker, Archbishop Anthony Fisher 
and now Bishop Peter Comensoli. 

CECNSW Secretariat
I would like to thank my colleagues in the CECNSW secretariat 
for their expertise and invaluable knowledge as well as for their 
dedication and service to Catholic education not only in 2016 
but over many years.

Dr Brian Croke
Executive Director
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4.1  About the Catholic Education 
Commission NSW 

The Trustees of the Province of Sydney and Archdiocese of 
Canberra and Goulburn established the Catholic Education 
Commission NSW (CECNSW) in 1974, initially to be the contract 
management authority with governments for the receipt and 
distribution of school grants to NSW Catholic schools. Since that 
time, the Trustees widened the CECNSW’s mandate to include 
educational, legal and financial compliance with Australian and 
NSW governments as well as representation, engagement and 
advocacy on behalf of NSW Catholic schools. The CECNSW also 
has a role in relation to early childhood education and ‘out of 
school hours’ care where they relate to school education services.

The Trustees have approved a charter for CECNSW, which they 
have amended several times since 1974 and is available on the 
CECNSW public website.

CECNSW provides advice to the NSW/ACT Bishops on education 
issues and related advocacy matters and leadership in Catholic 
education, through service to dioceses, religious institutes and 
parents. It functions through consultation with diocesan 
directors, religious institutes and principal and parent 
associations. It represents NSW Catholic schools authorities in 
education and other general forums of relevance to the sector 
and negotiates with governments for grants in support of NSW 
Catholic schools.

The NSW/ACT bishops’ mandate is broader than that of CECNSW 
and covers both religious education and pastoral care for all 
Catholic school children, whether attending Catholic or other 
schools, as well as the oversight of all Catholic educational 
establishments including, but not limited to, Catholic universities 
and Catholic adult education.

CECNSW has no authority to become involved in the 
administration of NSW Diocesan Catholic schools authorities 
nor congregational schools. The exception is in relation to 
funding contract management. Responsibility for the direct 
management of NSW Catholic schools system rests with the 
relevant Diocesan Catholic Schools Authority (under the 
canonical authority of the respective diocesan Bishop) for 
systemic schools and with the Religious Institute or Ministerial 
Public Juridic Person (PJP) Catholic School Authority for 
congregational schools.

From 2014, in accordance with Australian Education Act 2013 
provisions, the Australian Government Department of Education 
and Training (AGDET) recognises CECNSW as the Approved 
System Authority for the NSW Catholic schools system and 
Representative Authority for all NSW Catholic schools. 

At present, CECNSW fulfils its objectives by developing state-wide 
education policies and commissioning/publishing research 
materials, which contribute to the betterment of education in all 
NSW Catholic schools, the maintenance of the Catholic ethos 
in education and the enhancement of the quality of education 
generally. It supports NSW Catholic schools’ authorities, liaising 
with and coordinating them, especially in relation to financial, 
legal and educational compliance with governments. As well, it 
liaises with the Council of Catholic School Parents, Association 
of Catholic School Principals, Conference of Leaders of Religious 
Institutes, National Catholic Education Commission, other States’ 
Catholic Education Commissions and Catholic Universities.

CECNSW provides guidance to NSW Catholic educators and 
fosters understanding and co-operation between the various 
administrative components of Catholic education including 
parents, parish priests, teachers, administrators and other 
supporters. It provides representation, engagement and advocacy 
for NSW Catholic schools with reference to governments, 
parliaments, boards of studies, other education bodies, employer 
groups, the media and the general public. In addition, it develops 
cooperative links with other education institutions, both 
government and non-government.

In summary, the CECNSW is responsible for:

 x meeting the policy and administrative requirements of the 
Trustees as laid down in the CECNSW Charter

 x financial, legal and educational compliance with both 
Commonwealth and NSW governments 

 x providing educational leadership on State-wide education 
policies for the betterment of NSW Catholic schools

 x advocating for and representing the NSW Catholic schools 
sector with governments, related education bodies and 
other parties

 x providing a forum for resolving NSW Catholic schools’ 
intra-sectoral issues, and

 x ensuring that there are processes in place for the good 
governance of CECNSW.

4 Our Organisation and Governance
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 4.2  Catholic Education Commission 
NSW 2016

The Commission comprises:

 x the Chairman who is a Bishop incardinated in a Diocese 
within New South Wales

 x a Bishop who is incardinated in a Diocese within 
New South Wales

 x the Executive Director who is the ex officio Commissioner

 x one member nominated from each of the 11 dioceses in 
New South Wales

 x two members who are nominees of the Conference of 
Leaders of Religious Institutes in New South Wales

 x two members who are nominees of the Council of Catholic 
School Parents (one metropolitan and one country/regional)

 x two members who are nominees of the Association of 
Catholic School Principals (one secondary principal and 
one primary principal)

 x one Aboriginal member, and

 x other members as appointed from time to time.

In appointing Commissioners, the Trustees endeavour to 
ensure that the Commission has access to skills in:

 x education administration

 x Catholic religious education

 x corporate governance

 x pastoral care, and

 x finance functions of the Commission.
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 x Bishop Peter Comensoli, Broken Bay Diocese (Chair)

 x Bishop Michael Kennedy, Diocese of Armidale

 x Jenny Allen, Executive Director of Schools, Catholic 
Education Office, Diocese of Bathurst

 x Alan Bowyer, Director of Schools, Catholic Schools Office, 
Diocese of Wagga Wagga

 x Ray Collins, Director of Schools, Catholic Schools Office, 
Diocese of Maitland-Newcastle

 x David Condon, Director of Catholic Schools, Catholic 
Schools Office, Diocese of Lismore

 x Sharon Cooke, Aboriginal Education Consultant, Catholic 
Schools Office, Diocese of Armidale

 x Dr Brian Croke, Executive Director, CECNSW

 x Michael Egan, Principal, La Salle College, Bankstown

 x Catherine Ible, Parent Representative

 x Peter Hamill, Director of Schools, Catholic Schools Office, 
Diocese of Broken Bay

 x Michele Hugonnet, Conference of Leaders of Religious 
Institutes (NSW)

 x Linda McNeil, Executive Director, Council of Catholic 
School Parents 

 x Anthony Morgan, Director of Schools, Catholic Education 
Office, Diocese of Wilcannia-Forbes

 x Mark Mowbray, Principal, Holy Name Primary School, 
Forster

 x Moira Najdecki, Director of Catholic Education, Catholic 
Schools Office, Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn

 x Br Paul Oakley cfc, President of the Council, Edmund Rice 
Education Australia

 x Chris Smyth, Diocesan Director of Schools, Catholic Schools 
Office, Diocese of Armidale

 x Peter Turner, Director of Schools, Catholic Education Office, 
Diocese of Wollongong (Deputy chair)

 x Gregory B Whitby, Executive Director of Schools, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta

 x Dr Dan White, Executive Director, Sydney Catholic Schools, 
Archdiocese of Sydney

4.3 Commission Meetings 2016
11 February, 23 March, 20 April, 18 May, 15 June, 20 July, 
24 August, 21 September, 19 October, 30 November.

Commissioner Members 2016

Back (L to R) Ian Baker (Secretariat), Peter Turner, Alan Bowyer, Greg Whitby, Bishop Peter Comensoli, John Kitney (Secretariat), 
Michael Egan, Bishop Michael Kennedy, Peter Hamill, Brian McDonald (Secretariat).

Centre (L to R) Sharon Cooke, Br Paul Oakley cfc, Ray Collins, Chris Smyth, David Condon, Anthony Morgan, Jenny Allen, 
Mark Mowbray, Brian Croke.

Front (L to R) Michele Hugonnet, Moira Najdecki, Linda McNeill, Catherine Ible, Dan White.

4 Our Organisation and Governance
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4.4 Structure supporting the NSW/ACT Bishops in Catholic education
There are two bodies established to support the Bishops of NSW/ACT in Catholic education – the Catholic Education Commission NSW 
and the NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority. CECNSW is supported by a range of committees and working parties. The Block Grant 
Authority is supported by the State Priorities Committee. The chart below illustrates the structure of these committees and 
working parties.

NSW / ACT Bishops

NSW Catholic Block  
Grant Authority

State Priorities CommitteeOther Committees &  
Working PartiesCore Committees

Executive Committee Mission & Identity  
Working Party

Audit & Risk Management 
Committee

Vocational Education  
Advisory Group 

Public Policy Committee Students with Disability 
Working Party

Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Education  

Committee

Catholic Education & Social 
Services Co-ordinating 

Committee

Education Policy Committee NAPLAN Online Expert  
Working Party

Resources Policy Committee

Catholic Education  
Commission NSW
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee met ten times in 2016. Meetings 
occur ahead of and to plan Commission meeting agendas. 
Bishop Peter Comensoli chaired this committee and in his 
absence by the Deputy Chair, Commissioner Peter Turner.

The functions of the Committee are to advise the Commission 
Chairman on Commission meeting strategies. It may also make 
delegated decisions on behalf of the Commission between 
Commission meetings in circumstances where an urgent decision 
needs to be made and a Commission meeting is not practical.

Membership of the Committee in 2016: 

Bishop Peter 
Comensoli

Commission Chairman

Commissioner 
Peter Turner

Deputy Chair

Dr Brian Croke Executive Director, CECNSW

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Education 
Committee
The Committee met 6 times in 2016. Commissioner 
Sharon Cooke chaired this Committee.

The purpose of the CECNSW Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Education Committee is to guide the Commission in its 
deliberations on all matters pertaining to Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander education by providing strategic advice informed 
by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander voices involved in 
Catholic education from across NSW.

Membership of the Committee in 2016: 

Sharon Cooke 
(chair)

 Aboriginal Commissioner, Catholic 
Schools Office, Armidale

Jayde Mills 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, Aboriginal 
Education, CECNSW

Elizabeth Burke  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Sydney 
Catholic Schools,

Louise Campbell  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Schools Office, Maitland-Newcastle

David Ella  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Schools Office, Broken Bay 

Doreen Flanders  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Schools Office, Lismore 

Karen Gardiner  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Schools Office, Wagga Wagga 

Cassandra Gibbs  Aboriginal Education Advisor, 
Congregational Schools

Margaret Harrison  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta 

Darlene Murdoch  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Education Office, Bathurst

Kerry O’Callaghan  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Education Office, Canberra and Goulburn

Karan Taylor  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Education Office, Wollongong

Merindah Wilson  Aboriginal Education Advisor, Catholic 
Education Office, Wilcannia-Forbes

4 Our Organisation and Governance
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Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee met four times in 
2016. Commissioner Mr Alan Bowyer chaired this committee.

The functions of the Committee are to: 

 x Assist the Commission in complying with its governance 
and other obligations;

 x Satisfy itself that CECNSW Secretariat has: 

— A comprehensive risk management framework in 
place to identify and manage risks;

— processes to support an appropriate system of 
internal controls;

— management processes to ensure that CECNSW 
complies with its legal, contractual and financial 
compliance obligations; 

 x Review accounting policies and disclosure in the Annual 
Financial Report and Annual Report prior to release, and 

 x Ensure that CECNSW has adequate procedures on matters 
of audit independence.

Membership of the Committee in 2016: 

Alan Bowyer (Chair)  Director of Schools, Catholic Schools 
Office, Wagga Wagga

John Kitney  
(Executive Officer)

Director of Corporate Services 
CECNSW

Gary Daniels  Chartered Accountant 
(external member)

Peter Hamill  Director of Schools, Catholic Schools 
Office, Broken Bay

Catherine Ible Council of Catholic School Parents 
NSW

Jamie Ryan  Chartered Accountant 
(external member)

Education Policy Committee
The Education Policy Committee met eleven times in 2016. 
Commissioner Ms Jenny Allen chaired this committee.

The Committee has prime responsibility for advising the 
Commission on all aspects of education policy. The functions 
of the Committee are to:

 x Develop and review education policy;

 x Prepare responses on key education issues;

 x Recommend on the level and type of targeted funding 
either within the General Recurrent Grant formula or 
separately and specify program outcomes;

 x Review the performance of targeted education programs;

 x Advise on the catechetical purposes of Catholic 
schooling, and

 x Liaise with CCRESS on matters relating to the religious 
education of Catholic children in government schools.
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Membership of the Committee in 2016:

Jenny Allen (Chair)  Executive Director of Catholic Schools, 
Catholic Education Office, Bathurst

Ian Baker Director, Education Policy and 
Programs, (Executive Officer) CECNSW

Michael Bezzina  Director, Teaching and Learning, 
Sydney Catholic Schools

Anne-Maree Senior Professional Officer, Education 
Creenaune, Policy, Catholic Education 
Office, Wollongong

Dr Brian Croke Executive Director, CECNSW

Lee Herden  Assistant Director, Mission and 
Evangelisation, Catholic Schools Office, 
Armidale

Kelly Humphrey  Schools Services Officer, Aboriginal 
Education, Catholic Schools Office, 
Wagga Wagga

Professor Marea 
Nicholson

Professor of Teacher Education,  
Australian Catholic University

Rosalie Nott 
(Committee 
support) 

Assistant Director,  
Education Policy, CECNSW

Maria Pearson Principal, Mt St Benedict College, 
Pennant Hills

Paul Thornton Assistant Director, Education Services, 
Catholic Schools Office, Lismore

Public Policy Committee
The Public Policy Committee last met in May 2016, prior to the 
Federal election. A national communications working party was 
convened for the Federal election, which included Jim Hanna, 
Senior Manager Government Relations and Media for CECNSW. 
The Public Policy Committee was therefore suspended and has 
not been convened since.

Resources Policy Committee
The Resources Policy Committee met eleven times in 2016. 
Commissioner Peter Turner chaired the committee.

The functions of the Committee are to:

 x Advise on funding formulas for the distribution of general 
recurrent grants to Diocesan Catholic schools’ authorities 
and on other grant programs generally;

 x Work with the Education Policy Committee to ensure that 
both key priorities within local communities and 
government priorities are met;

 x Undertake research on school resources and 
outcomes; and

 x Monitor the performance of grant programs as required.

Membership of the Committee in 2016:

Peter Turner (Chair) Director, Catholic Education Office, 
Wollongong 

Brian McDonald 
(Executive Officer)

Director, Resources Policy and 
Capital Programs, CECNSW

Andrew Forbes 
(Secretary)

Education Officer, Schools Data,  
CECNSW

Helen Bentham Financial Director, Catholic Schools 
Office, Broken Bay

Dr Brian Croke Executive Director, CECNSW

Andrew McIntosh Head of Finance and Resources, 
Catholic Schools Office, Wagga Wagga

Paul Murray Head of Financial Services, Diocese 
of Maitland-Newcastle 

Bernard Ryall Director of Business Services, 
St Joseph’s College, Hunters Hill

John Sheridan Head of Financial Services, Catholic 
Schools Office, Armidale

Anthony Smith Assistant Director, Financial Services, 
Sydney Catholic Schools

Greg Smith Business Manager, Brigidine College, 
St Ives

4 Our Organisation and Governance
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Other Committees and Working Parties
The Commission also establishes Committees and Working 
Parties to undertake specific responsibilities and projects 
as required.

Mission and Identity Working Party
The Mission and Identity Working Party advises the Commission, 
through the Education Policy Committee, on policy development 
and initiatives to promote Catholic Identity and Mission across 
NSW Catholic schools. It monitors the progress of schools in 
implementing the recommendations of the NSW Bishops Pastoral 
letter, Catholic Schools at a Crossroads, and maintains and 
updates the CECNSW Catholic Principles in the Curriculum 
online resource (including Towards Wholeness – the support 
document for the NSW PDHPE syllabus K–6 and 7–10).

Membership of the Committee in 2016:

Lee Herden 
(Chair)

Assistant Director, Mission and 
Evangelisation, Catholic Schools Office, 
Armidale

Peter Grace 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, Mission 
and Student Wellbeing, CECNSW

Ian Baker Director, Education Policy and 
Programs, CECNSW

Anthony Cleary Director, Religious Education and 
Evangelisation, Sydney Catholic 
Schools

Kathy Gaskin Director, Religious Education and 
Evangelisation, Sydney Catholic 
Schools

Linda McNeil Council of Catholic School Parents 
NSW/ACT

Sharon O’Keeffe Director of Mission, Loreto College, 
Kirribilli

Ivanka Rancic Religious Education Coordinator, Holy 
Cross College, Ryde

Ian Smith Director Mission, Catholic Education, 
Diocese of Parramatta

Catholic Education and Social Services 
Co-ordinating Committee (CESSCC)
This committee provides a unique forum for linking Catholic 
Schools with Catholic Social Services in respect of policy matters 
of joint interest and/or concern. It has regular consultation with 
key government agencies staff from FACS, the Children’s 
Advocate, NSW and the office of the NSW Children’s Guardian. 
In undertaking its work, CESSCC cooperates closely with the 
Diocesan Directors Child Protection Practitioners’ Group.

Membership of the Committee in 2016 was:

Dr Kristin Johnston 
rsj (Chair)

Australian Catholic University 
and Mary Mackillop Research Centre, 
Sisters of St Joseph

Peter Grace 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, Mission 
and Student Wellbeing, CECNSW

Ian Baker Director, Education Policy and 
Programs, CECNSW

Margaret Chittick Senior Professional Officer, Safety 
and Professional Services Catholic 
Education Office, Wollongong

Lynn Harrison Chief Executive Officer, St Francis 
Social Services

Cathy McClellan 
(co-opted member)

Child Protection Officer, 
Catholic Schools Office, Broken Bay

Linda McNeil 
(co-opted member)

Executive Director, Council of Catholic 
School Parents NSW/ACT

Tracey Pahl Family Services Manager, Centacare 
South West NSW, Diocese of 
Wagga Wagga

Roseanne Plunkett Manager, School Student and Family 
Program, CatholicCare, Diocese of 
Wollongong

Stephen Said Head of Student Wellbeing and 
Pastoral Care, Sydney Catholic Schools

Kerry Stirling Chief Executive Officer, Good Grief
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Vocational Education Advisory Group (VEAG) 
The Vocational Education Advisory Group advises the Commission, 
through the Education Policy Committee, on Catholic Sector 
implementation options arising from both National and State 
policies for Vocational Education and Training (VET) delivered 
to secondary students. This includes policies and programs 
developed through the Australian Industry and Skills Committee 
(AISC), the Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA), the NSW 
Skills Board and the NSW Board of Studies Teaching and 
Educational Standards (BOSTES). Currently, VEAG meets for 
meetings (four), workshops (four) and a Diocesan site visit. 

Membership of the Committee in 2016:

Vince Connor 
(Chair)

 Consultant to Schools, Catholic 
Education Office, Bathurst

Gerard Delany 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, 
Vocational Education, CECNSW

Phil Cox  Education Officer, Secondary 
Vocational Learning, Catholic Schools 
Office, Broken Bay

Nathan Cooper  Vocational Education Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Wagga Wagga

Joanne Flanagan  Vocational Education Officer, Catholic 
Education Office, Wollongong

Norma Higgins Educational Services, Catholic Schools 
Office, Armidale

Sharee McCormack  Vocational Education Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Wagga Wagga

Dianne Mills 
(Jan – Sept)

Council of Catholic School Parents 
NSW/ACT

Stephen Mitchell  Registered Training Organisation 
Compliance Officer, Catholic Education 
Office, Bathurst

Lyndelle Neville  Education Officer, Catholic Schools 
Office, Maitland-Newcastle

Mark Pincloth  Education Officer, Catholic Education 
Office, Canberra and Goulburn

Karen Ruppert  Vocational Education Officer, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta

Christine Shakya Head Vocational Education, Sydney 
Catholic Schools

Mary-Clare Turnbull  Vocational Education Officer, Sydney 
Catholic Schools 

Sue Watts  Vocational Education Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Lismore

NAPLAN Online Working Party
CECNSW established the NAPLAN Online Expert Working Party 
to support the transition of Catholic schools to NAPLAN Online 
by 2019. The first task of the Working Party was to conduct a 
NAPLAN Online Forum, involving NSW Catholic schools 
authorities, in May 2016. 

In addition to its coordinating role to assist diocesan and 
Congregational school planning, CECNSW has a compliance role 
with regard to NAPLAN Online implementation in the context of 
the Australian Education Act 2013. 

The Working Party met four times. Meetings considered matters 
relating to both existing NAPLAN tests and planning for NAPLAN 
online. For more NAPLAN related activities see page33.

Membership of the Working Party in 2016

Rosalie Nott (Chair)  Assistant Director, Education Policies, 
CECNSW

Karen Ferrante 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, Assessment 
Programs and Early Learning Support, 
CECNSW

Anne Addicoat  Senior Education Officer, Sydney 
Catholic Schools

Stefan Boffa  Learning Data Manager, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta

Gary Brown  Team Leader, Catholic Education, 
Diocese of Parramatta

Ian Gregory Enterprise Architect, CEnet

Catherine Murray  Education Officer, Catholic Schools 
Office, Maitland-Newcastle

Phil Pettit  Senior Officer, Catholic Education 
Office, Canberra and Goulburn 

Carmel Tapley  Education Officer, Catholic Schools 
Office, Maitland-Newcastle

Rosemary Vellar  Leader, Catholic Schools Office, 
Broken Bay
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Students with Disability Working Party
The Students with Disability Working Party was established in 
2016 to advise the Education Policy Committee on a range of 
strategic SWD policy issues. 

The purpose of the Working Party is to provide CECNSW, through 
its Core Committee for Education Policy, with advice on:

 i. State (NSW) criteria for the recognition of SWD, in context 
with the current NSW Department of Education Review of 
‘State Criteria’

 ii. Ongoing implementation of the Australian Department of 
Education’s NCCD process for all Australian schools, and

 iii. Outcomes of the recent Commonwealth Review of the 
Disability Standards for Education (2005) under the 
Commonwealth Disability Discrimination Act 1992.

Membership in 2016:

Ian Baker (Chair) Director of Education Policy Programs, 
CECNSW

Geraldine Gray 
(Executive Officer)

State Coordinator, Special Learning 
Needs, CECNSW

David Hawkins Senior Clinical Psychologist, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta

Patrick Kelly Senior Officer, Catholic Education 
Office, Canberra and Goulburn

Monica Cameron School Service Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Wagga Wagga 

Marie Seaford  Senior Education Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Broken Bay 

Claire Formby  Speech Pathologist, St Edmund’s 
Special School Wahroonga

Mary Creenaune  Head of Student Services, Catholic 
Education, Diocese of Parramatta

Karen Cahill  Head of Diverse Learning, Sydney 
Catholic Schools

Cynthia 
McCammon

 Senior Professional Officer, Catholic 
Education Office, Wollongong

The Working Party met three times in 2016.

NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority
In 1986, the Trustees of the Province of Sydney and Archdiocese 
of Canberra and Goulburn formed an authority known as the 
“NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority” (CBGA), which is the 
contract authority for capital and capital-related block grants 
received from both the Australian and NSW Governments and 
their agencies, for distribution to Catholic schools in New South 
Wales. In 1988, the Trustees delegated their responsibilities as 
the CBGA to the CBGA Delegate who is currently the Chairman 
of CECNSW Bishop Peter Comensoli. The CBGA also oversees 
the allocation of capital funds provided by the NSW Government.

In 1986, the Trustees appointed a State Priorities Committee to 
provide advice to the CBGA Delegate on setting priorities for the 
disbursement of school building grants. This Committee 
comprises representatives of each of the 11 Diocesan Bishops, 
one representative of the Conference of Leaders of Religious 
Institutes (CLRI) and one representative of the Council of 
Catholic School Parents (CCSP). The CBGA Delegate each year 
appoints the Chair of the Committee from their number. The Chair 
of the Committee in 2016 was Paul Holman, Assistant Director 
of the Catholic Schools Office Armidale. CECNSW Secretariat 
provides administrative support to the CBGA Delegate. Brian 
McDonald, Director Resources Policy and Capital Programs of 
CECNSW Secretariat is Executive Officer of the CBGA.
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State Priorities Committee
Diocesan bishops appoint their diocesan representatives. The 
other representatives are nominated by the appropriate authority. 
All representatives have unlimited terms of appointment at the 
discretion of the relevant authority.

Membership of the Committee in 2016 was:

Paul Holman (Chair)  Assistant Director, School Services, 
Catholic Schools Office, Armidale

Brian McDonald 
(Executive Officer 
CBGA)

Director, Resources Policy and Capital 
Programs, CECNSW

Kevin Morrison 
(SPC Executive 
Secretary)

Coordinator, Capital Programs, 
CECNSW

Sue Boss  Leader Finance, Strategy and 
Operations, Catholic Education Office, 
Bathurst 

Peter Clarke  Head School Planning & Facilities, 
Sydney Catholic Schools 

John Farrugia  Head of Properties & Facilities, 
Catholic Education, Diocese of 
Parramatta

Catherine Ible  Chairperson, Council of Catholic 
School Parents NSW/ACT

Mark MacLean Principal, Holy Spirit School, Lavington

John Menday  School Facilities Officer, Catholic 
Schools Office, Broken Bay

Br Jeff Regan cfc  Education Officer, Edmund Rice 
Education Australia (EREA)

Bede Ritchie  Financial Director, Catholic Education 
Office, Wollongong

Mick Spry  Facilities Officer, Catholic Education 
Office, Wilcannia-Forbes

Geoff Whitnall  Facilities Manager, Catholic Schools 
Office, Maitland-Newcastle

Jeff Yates Senior Officer, Planning and Facilities, 
Catholic Education Office, Canberra 
and Goulburn

Andrew Young Diocesan Properties Officer, Diocesan 
Business Office, Lismore

 4.5  Representation on state and 
national bodies 

In 2016 CECNSW was represented on 84 state and national 
bodies. The full listing is provided in Appendix B.

 4.6 Information about NSW Catholic Schools

Schools
In 2016, there were 588 NSW Catholic schools recognised by 
the ecclesiastical authority of the respective local Diocesan 
Bishop, with 17,183 full-time equivalent (FTE) teachers 
educating 255,775 FTE students. Of the schools, 422 were 
primary schools, 131 secondary, 28-combined primary/
secondary and seven special schools (schools that cater 
predominantly for students with intellectual disabilities, 
sensory needs or behaviour disorders).

For funding and organisational purposes, NSW Catholic schools 
are either systemic or congregational. Diocesan Catholic schools’ 
authorities administer systemic schools. Either a Religious 
Institute or a Ministerial Public Juridic Person Catholic school 
authority governs Congregational schools. CECNSW is the 
designated System Funding Authority for the 542 NSW Catholic 
Systemic schools but not for Congregational schools.

Catholic schools in NSW have a wide geographic distribution 
throughout the State. While the majority are located in Sydney 
and other major regional centres (as is the NSW population), 
13% are located in the outer regional and remote areas of NSW. 
More than 48% of Catholic schools are located outside of 
Sydney. As with geographic diversity, Catholic schools in NSW 
embrace and support the diversity of socio-
economic communities.

Most primary schools have fewer than 300 students and the 
median size is 271. Most secondary schools have more than 
800 students and the median size is 886. Typical school sizes 
vary greatly between urban and rural schools. In urban areas, 
77% of primary schools have more than 200 students compared 
with only 41% in non-urban areas. Similarly, 64% of urban 
secondary schools have more than 800 students compared 
with 36% of non-urban secondary schools.
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Students
There were 255,738 full-time students in NSW Catholic schools 
in 2016, of which 130,307 were full-time primary students and 
125,431 were full-time secondary students. These included 
565 full-time students enrolled in Special Schools. The gender 
mix was 128,809 full-time male students and 126,929 full-time 
female students, which has remained the proportionality for a 
number of years.

In addition, there were another 67 part-time students with an 
FTE of 34.9, bringing total FTE complement to 255,775.

Both primary and secondary enrolments showed a slight 
increase from 2015.

There were 14 schools with boarding facilities in 2016 – 11 
secondary schools and three combined schools (although there 
were no primary boarders at any of these schools). The total 
number of boarding students was 2,192, comprising 1,420 boys 
and 772 girls.

There were 43,714 students in 2016 in need of English as 
Second Language assistance, comprising 18% of all students. 
Of these, 26,933 were primary students (21%) and 16,781 were 
secondary students (13%).

For all students, the apparent retention rates from Year 7 to 
Year 12 in 2016 was 81.6%, the second year of negligible 
change after six years of steady growth. The rates for male and 
female students were 78.2% and 85.0% respectively. The urban 
retention rate of 84.7% was considerably higher than the rural 
rate of 70.3% with the latter falling for the second year in a row.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Students
NSW Catholic schools have witnessed a significant increase in 
enrolments of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander enrolments have more 
than quadrupled in the last 20 years. In NSW Catholic primary 
schools, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander student enrolments 
have risen from 2,203 in 2006 to 4,271 in 2016.

In Catholic secondary schools, the numbers have increased from 
1,377 in 2006 to 3,365 in 2016. Numbers in urban schools have 
almost tripled in this time and in 2016, 62% of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander secondary students enrolled at 
urban schools. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander enrolments as a proportion 
of total enrolments have also been increasing over the same 
period from 1.5% to 3.0%.

Students with Disabilities
The number of defined Students with Disabilities (SWD) enrolled 
in NSW Catholic schools has increased substantially since 1985, 
when there were 377 SWDs. In 2016, SWD enrolments totalled 
7,194 at primary level and 6,228 at secondary level. These 
figures include the 550 students with disabilities enrolled at 
NSW Catholic Special Schools. SWD enrolments in NSW Catholic 
schools represent 5.2% of total students enrolled. 

Teaching Staff
In 2016, there were 14,119 full-time teachers employed in NSW 
Catholic schools. There were also 5,691 part-time teachers, with 
a full-time equivalent (FTE) of 3,148.9. Teaching FTEs totalled 
7,333.6 primary, 9,752.3 secondary and 97.0 special schools. 
After falling for a number of years, the proportion of males 
amongst staff in basic teaching positions in primary schools has 
stabilised since 2001 at about 11%. The corresponding 
proportion of male teachers in secondary schools is much 
higher at 35%.

Proportions of male teachers in leadership positions – 
Principals, Assistant Principals and Coordinators – are higher 
than in teaching positions, though here too there has been a 
gradual decline over the past few years. In 2016, the proportion 
of males in such positions was 24% in primary schools and 45% 
in secondary schools.

There were 338 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff 
employed in NSW Catholic schools in 2016 with an FTE of 235.7. 
Of these, 224 or 66% were employed in administrative and 
clerical positions, while another 91 or 27% were teaching staff. 
Geographically, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff are 
concentrated in remote areas. Of the total FTE of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander staff, 65 or 28% were employed in outer 
regional, remote and very remote schools. By comparison, of 
non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff only 5% were 
employed in these schools.
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 4.7 Key CECNSW Strategic Issues for 2016
The following eleven issues drawn from the 2016 Work plan 
were considered to be particularly significant to Commissioners.

 1. The Mission of Catholic schools

 2. The Bishops Review of Catholic Education in NSW

 3. The Recurrent Funding Distribution and Accountability to 
the Australian and NSW governments

 4. The need for increased Capital Funding by Australian and 
NSW governments

 5. New Governance Requirements under Australian and 
NSW legislation

 6. Public Perception of Catholic schools

 7. Early Childhood and Out of School Hours Care (OSHC)

 8. HSC Stage 6 Pathways including the VET Agenda

 9. Student and Staff Wellbeing and Resilience

 10. The Changing Teacher Workforce, and

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Education.

4.8 Key External Policy Drivers in 2016
 1. Board of Studies, Teaching and Educational Standards 

(BOSTES) now NESA in respect of:

 x School governance

 x Curriculum and assessment

 x Teacher Accreditation.

For further advice on BOSTES priorities for Catholic schools 
during 2016 see section 6 below.

 1. Commonwealth Government Programs, particularly the 
Students First Support Fund. See page 52.

 2. NSW Government Programs, particularly the State Literacy 
and Numeracy Action Plan. See pages 34 and 54.
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5.1 The Mission of Catholic Schools
CECNSW continued its focus on the Mission of Catholic schools 
assisted by the work of its Mission and Identity Working Party. 
Three priority areas identified in its 2016 Work Plan 
were addressed.

Mission Statement development
Following the publication of the 2014 Vatican document, 
Educating Today and Tomorrow, and the 2015 Vatican World 
Conference on Catholic education, a forum was proposed to 
explore the relationship between the Mission of Catholic schools 
and perceptions of Catholic schools and teacher formation. It 
was thought best to delay its organisation until after the NCEC 
gathering in June and the release of the full report of the World 
Congress on Catholic Education. The latter along with Catholic 
Schools at a Crossroads will be foundation documents for the 
forum now scheduled for 2017.

Curriculum guidelines for Religious Literacy 
Commissioners felt that each diocese was already addressing 
religious literacy and that young peoples’ real spiritual needs 
would be better served by focusing on teacher formation 
consistent with both the Australian Bishops and NCEC policy 
development. A significant CECNSW teacher online resource, 
Catholic Principles in the Curriculum K–10, was launched in 
February 2016, which helps teachers apply a Catholic lens to 
the teaching process. In the same vein, the Commission 
identified an urgent need for a revision and updating of Towards 
Wholeness K–6 and 7–10 (the CECNSW documents supporting 
the teaching of the NSW Personal Development/Health/Physical 
Education syllabus). CECNSW appointed a project officer to 
commence in 2017.

Religious Freedom and Catholic Belief 
CECNSW is conscious of monitoring the debate taking place in 
the public forum in relation to religious freedom and promoting 
through the media a better understanding of religious freedom 
and Catholic belief. It has engaged at both national and state 
levels including the most recent proposals to amend the NSW 
Anti-discrimination Act. CECNSW works closely with both CCER 
and NCEC in addressing this challenge. CECNSW employs a 
full-time Senior Manager – Government Relations and Media to 
assist in this regard.

The ‘Marriage Equality’ debate 
Finalising briefing advice for principals was deferred until the 
NSW Bishops had finalised a ‘Marriage Debate’ engagement 
strategy. The defeat of the bill to hold a plebiscite on this issue 
by the Australian Government has put this issue on hold. Draft 
advice for Catholic school principals was prepared but 
not circulated.

 The Refugee Resettlement Program in 
Catholic schools
The NSW Government’s Department of Premier and Cabinet, in 
planning for the arrival and resettlement of a large proportion of 
the 12,000 additional refugees displaced by the conflict in Syria, 
consulted all school sectors to learn from their experience with 
previous refugee students and their families.

CECNSW submitted a funding proposal to the NSW Government, 
on behalf of NSW Catholic schools, for consideration ahead of 
the 2016/17 State Budget, seeking $21 million over two years, 
based on responses from relevant Diocesan Catholic schools’ 
authorities that have absorbed refugee students into their 
schools. While no decision has been given, CECNSW has been 
reassured that payments will be retrospective

A key part of the inter-governmental response strategy was the 
establishment of Community Hubs. Community Hubs are 
intended to work with migrant and refugee women and 
pre-school aged children. They will help create friendship and 
support networks and give a sense of belonging, while also 
helping pre-school children to become ready for school and 
offering services such as skills training and English classes. 

Sydney Catholic Schools is planning to establish Community 
Hubs in Liverpool and Fairfield.
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Maintaining Catholic sector growth 2017–2027
Following a presentation by the CECNSW Secretariat to their 
May 2016 meeting, commissioners noted the overall trend, 
particularly the fact that 40,000 new places need to be found 
over the next ten years in order to maintain current sectoral 
proportion (21–22%). They also noted that the question of 
keeping a proper balance between Catholic and non-Catholic 
enrolments needs to be addressed. In addition, school planning 
must be linked to Mission and Identity imperatives. Under 
current governance arrangements, individual dioceses can plan 
to meet growth over the next ten years, but Commissioners 
agreed that a Statewide solution needs to be found. A Working 
Party to determine the planning questions to be explored was 
established pending the decisions by the bishops regarding the 
future structure of Catholic education in NSW. A subsequent 
presentation on Catholic and non-Catholic Students in NSW 
Catholic schools that highlighted a downward trend in the former 
led to a request to all dioceses and Congregational schools to: 

 a. undertake both entry and exit surveys as a routine to 
understand enrolment trends

 b. review their enrolment documents to ensure that parents and 
students are very clear that enrolment in a Catholic school 
means that the Catholic faith is taught in the school

 c. ensure that school communications reinforce that enrolment 
in a Catholic school means that the Catholic faith is taught 
in Catholic schools, and

 d.  request CECNSW to collect entry and exit data State wide 
and provide regular reports and strategic advice on 
enrolments to the NSW/ACT Catholic Bishops.

The Australian Government Chaplaincy program
Since 2007 the National Schools Chaplaincy Program (NSCP) 
has been funded through various Commonwealth programs; and 
from 2015 NSCP funding has been directed to CECNSW via the 
NSW Government. The current program funds chaplaincy services 
in 111 NSW Catholic Schools for the period 2016–2018 Schools 
can use a term other than “chaplain” for the funded positions.

The Australian Government Department of Education and 
Training (AGDET) engaged an independent research company, 
TNS Australia, to conduct a national evaluation of the NSCP 
using online surveys and a limited number of focus group 
discussions with volunteer parents. TNS is not visiting schools 
or conducting face-to-face interviews.

The key objective of this evaluation is for the government to 
understand how chaplaincy services support the emotional 
wellbeing of students and the broader school community 
through the provision of pastoral care services.

Commissioners agreed to encourage Catholic schools funded 
under the NSCP to engage with the upcoming Evaluation of the 
National Schools Chaplaincy Program by TNS Australia for AGDET.

The Brother John Taylor Fellowship
The Brother John Taylor Fellowship is offered each year to one 
applicant who has demonstrated a capacity for research and 
effectiveness as a teacher in Catholic schools and who can 
contribute significantly in the future. CECNSW has funded the 
Fellowship, up to $45,000, so that neither Fellows nor schools 
are financially disadvantaged.

The Advisory Committee considered applications, interviewed 
applicants and forwarded their recommendation of the 2016 
Fellow to Bishop Comensoli for his endorsement. In early 
December 2016 Bishop Comensoli announced that Ms Kim 
Moroney, Project Officer – Early Learning, Catholic Schools 
Office, Diocese of Maitland-Newcastle had been awarded the 
Brother John Taylor Fellowship for 2016. Kim’s proposed project, 
to be completed during 2017 is: “The Importance of Early 
Childhood and the Academia of Play”. A critical friend and 
academic advisor will be appointed to support Kim in her work. 

5.2 Recurrent funding

Overview
Recurrent grant funding to the NSW Catholic schools system 
from both Australian and NSW State governments totalled 
$2.5 billion in 2016 compared to capital grants of approximately 
$50m per year and targeted programs grants for amounts less 
than that. These recurrent funds provide approximately 80% of 
the recurrent funds required to educate our 220,000 students 
in systemic schools.

For all NSW Catholic systemic schools, both the Australian and 
NSW governments pay the recurrent grants collectively to the 
Approved System Authority, which is CECNSW. On the other 
hand, for Congregational schools, both governments distribute 
recurrent grants to each school individually and CECNSW is not 
involved in the distribution or administration of these funds.
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As the Approved System Authority for NSW Catholic systemic 
schools, CECNSW is the party contracting with both the 
Australian and NSW governments and has the direct contractual 
responsibility for meeting the legislative, regulatory and 
administrative requirements of government associated with 
the payment of recurrent grants.

Themes and Issues during 2016
The following themes and issues were key considerations for 
recurrent funding in 2016:

 1. Meeting the increasing requirements for financial regulatory 
compliance and accountability;

 2. Clarifying the implications of the trajectory of total recurrent 
grant funding from 2016 and onwards;

 3. Defining the methodology for distribution of total grant funds 
to dioceses and schools and clarifying its implications;

 4. Clarifying and implementing the respective roles of the 
Approved System Authority, i.e. CECNSW, and diocesan 
education authorities;

 5. Re-engineering of processes to enhance efficiency and 
reduce costs;

 6. Improving data management to enhance educational and 
financial insights and intelligence; and

 7. Liaising with government funding organisations and 
regulatory bodies including ACNC, ACARA and NESA, as 
well as the NCEC and CECNSW’s interstate counterparts.

Financial compliance and accountability
The requirements for financial compliance and accountability 
have increased in recent years and are expected to continue to 
do so for the following reasons:

 x The enactment of the Australian Education Act 2013, which 
contains heightened accountability measures, coupled with 
the increasingly robust interpretation and enforcement of 
these requirements by the Australian Government 
Department of Education and Training (AGDET);

 x The inclusion of Section 83C within the NSW Education Act, 
which provides greater emphasis and clarity on use of 
education funds and the nature of related party 
transactions;

 x Increasing reporting requirements by the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission (ACNC);

 x A trend toward more robust financial governance across 
society, reflected in accounting standards and audit 
practices; and

 x For the first time, government has acted to cut government 
grants to a school on the basis of perceived failures of 
financial governance.

The achievements in 2016 in relation to these matters included:

 1. CECNSW provided, for the first time, quality control and 
oversight of financial reporting for the Commonwealth 
Government’s Financial Questionnaire (FQ) and Financial 
Accountability processes (FA). Also, for the first time, 
CECNSW submitted these reports directly to AGDET;

 2. CECNSW developed and issued detailed financial 
accountability guidelines for the benefit of systemic 
schools and Diocesan Catholic Schools Authorities;

 3. CECNSW obtained definitive clarification by professional 
experts on a key reporting metric concerning the 
recognition of government grant income at systemic 
schools and ensured uniform implementation of this policy 
for the first time, thereby making great improvement to the 
consistency of reported FQ data;
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 4. CECNSW reported, for the first time, the Block Allocations 
(i.e. Base and Loadings) for the FA process for each 
systemic school within the due date and without error 
following extensive advice and collaboration with diocesan 
finance teams;

 5. Successful submission of the FQ and FA by the due date 
without error;

 6. CECNSW provided signoffs for both Australian and NSW 
schools grants while being accompanied by enhanced 
sign-offs from responsible diocesan management;

 7. CECNSW organised and hosted seminars, including diocesan 
education financial managers and diocesan financial 
administrators to provide education and advice on matters 
concerning Related Party transactions and the allowable 
uses of government and private school income, and

 8. CECNSW worked collaboratively with the NCEC and financial 
personnel from other State jurisdictions to ensure that 
AGDET and ACNC were well aware of the challenges and 
difficulties being faced by Catholic systems in the 
compliance area.

Outcomes regarding funding from the 
2016 Federal Election
Potentially, the most significant policy announced by the 
Coalition was that contained in its May 2016 policy paper, 
Quality Schools, Quality Outcomes, which specifies a review of 
the current grants model in the Australian Education Act by early 
2017. This was reinforced by Minister Birmingham in his address 
to the NCEC Conference in Perth. Since any modification of the 
so-called ‘Gonski’ funding arrangements may now have difficulty 
passing the Senate, it is unclear whether the Government will 
seek to move on this, especially in the short term.

The Coalition pledged to strongly support the ability of Catholic 
education systems to flexibly and responsively redistribute 
funding according to local need. It committed to growing 
schools’ funding “in line with costs and to support evidence-
based initiatives proven to make a difference to student 
outcomes”. It also committed to “reducing the cost of 
unnecessary or inefficient regulation imposed on individuals, 
business and community organisations by at least $1 billion a 
year. An important part of this commitment is the Regulator 
Performance Framework to review the performance of 
Commonwealth regulators”.

However, concerns remain that the Australian government’s 
education policy, Quality Schools, Quality Outcomes, may 
increase the reporting and regulatory burden on Catholic 
schools through its six areas of ‘future focus’.

Recurrent funding prospects 2018 – 2028
CECNSW has been dealing with the longer-term challenge, 
generally in conjunction with NCEC, of the sustained government 
funding of Catholic schools and the evolving political and 
financial climate in which that is continually negotiated.

Commissioners agreed that it should develop what has been 
called a ‘new narrative’ around future government funding. In 
conjunction with other NSW schools authorities, CECNSW has 
been seriously engaged in planning for new school places, up to 
2031, to meet the burgeoning demand from future students, 
most of whom are already born and whose current address is 
known. Similarly, enrolment trends in Catholic and non-Catholic 
students is also germane to future thinking and planning for 
Catholic schooling in NSW.

On 3–4 August 2016, NCEC held a symposium on school 
funding issues at North Sydney with CECNSW representation. 
The aims of the workshop were:

 x To identify the priorities and core components of the 
funding model after 2017 for Australian Catholic schools

 x What principles should inform the evolution of the model? 

 x What needs to be protected?

 x What are the clear opportunities?

 x Where is further analysis/information needed to frame a 
position/submission for advice to the NCEC to take to the 
Commonwealth Government for the negotiations on the 
funding model beyond 2017?
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Review and clarification of roles for 
financial governance
Within the NSW Catholic schools system, the organisational 
structure is such that the ultimate responsibility for the 
operations and management of systemic schools lies with the 
bishop of the diocese as the canonical authority and is 
delegated to his respective Diocesan School Authority. However, 
the responsibility for meeting increasing compliance and 
accountability requirements as a condition of the receipt of 
grant funding has been placed by government with the Approved 
System Authority. Furthermore, by dint of being part of the NSW 
Catholic schools system, Diocesan Catholic Schools Authorities 
agree to be bound by these system-wide governance 
arrangements.

Consequently, for effective and efficient governance it is 
important that the scope of the roles and responsibilities of the 
Approved System Authority on the one hand and Diocesan 
Catholic Schools Authorities on the other are clearly defined and 
potential areas of overlap are minimised.

During 2016, considerable progress has been achieved by 
CECNSW on this governance issue with the strong cooperation 
of the finance teams from Diocesan Catholic Schools 
Authorities. Guidelines on this issue have been agreed and 
published and a major codification of legal and regulatory 
financial compliance obligations was prepared in late 2016 for 
full implementation in 2017. 

In parallel, much work was done to consider the appropriate 
governance structure for the NSW Catholic Schools system into 
the future, culminating in the planned establishment in 2017 of 
the company, Catholic Schools NSW, and its assumption of the 
role of Approved System Authority.

Re-engineering of processes
CECNSW instituted an ongoing program of work to streamline 
established processes and to implement efficient processes for 
the delivery of new requirements. Some examples in 2016 
include the following.

CECNSW successfully re-engineered the census collection 
process during 2016. Census data is collected twice per year, in 
February and August and involved a major effort from personnel 
at schools and at diocesan education offices across the system 
while producing data with substantial structural limitations. This 
re-engineering initiative allowed CECNSW to:

 x Reduce the time and effort needed by school and diocesan 
personnel to produce the census results;

 x Produce a richer data set with broader application; and

 x Generate and provide to government a substantially more 
accurate data set, as reported by ADDET.

CECNSW improved the FQ and FA processes as follows:

 x The two separate processes were integrated thereby 
eliminating any interface alignment issues that had caused 
problems in previous years;

 x Accounting policies in key areas were agreed and uniformly 
applied to ensure consistency of results; and

 x For the first time, data was collected by CECNSW, quality 
control checks were applied and then submitted to AGDET.

Finally, CECNSW also initiated a cooperative effort with AGDET 
to facilitate the one-off transfer of financial information to 
government and the automatic production of the reports 
required by multiple agencies including AGDET, ACNC and 
ACARA. This project will be ongoing into 2017.
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5.3 Capital Funding of Schools
The CECNSW Review of the capital needs of schools in NSW 
was completed and the concerns of CECNSW were made known 
to both the Australian and NSW governments and oppositions. 
A joint report with AIS was provided to the NSW Minister 
for Education.

Overview
Demographic changes in student populations across NSW over 
the next 15 years will require a major effort to provide new 
schools and student places. Most of the growth is forecast in 
urban areas within Sydney, Newcastle and Wollongong whilst 
country areas continue to show reducing or at best stable 
populations. The urban growth is comprised of both the more 
traditional style of growth in lower population density areas from 
the outer urban growth centres in North-West and South-West 
Sydney as well as the more recent phenomenon of inner urban 
consolidation and higher density development closer to the CBD.

Given the extent of the projected growth in student populations, 
the NSW Government has requested that non-government 
schools maintain their State-wide enrolment share so that the 
burden of increased capacity does not fall exclusively on the 
State system. The Catholic schools sector educates over 20% of 
NSW’s school students and provides over 80% of capital funding 
resources required for these students from off-government 
sources such as parental contributions to school building funds.

Major capital-related challenges
The major challenges for the NSW Catholic schools in relation to 
capital and facilities are:

1. Meeting the demand for extra student places in inner urban 
areas where the cost of land is prohibitively expensive;

2. Providing quality education and religious formation to 
dwindling populations in country areas which are below the 
minimum efficient scale for schools;

3. Upgrading existing facilities to minimum standards of 
condition and functionality and to facilitate modern 
pedagogy;

4. Obtaining more support and collaboration from State and 
Commonwealth governments in relation to capital–related 
matters where their current attitude to non-governments 
schools on these matters is equivocal;

5. Utilising the opportunities arising from new design and 
construction technologies; and

6. Clarifying legacy ownership issues to permit easier 
consolidation or rationalisation of school sites.

CECNSW engagement with government
CECNSW has actively engaged with the NSW State Government 
and its departments concerning capital and school 
infrastructure in the following main areas:

 x Provision of increased government capital grants;

 x Greater certainty in planning approval pathways for school 
construction projects;

 x Alleviation of the burden of non-government schools having 
to meet infrastructure levies for school developments; and

 x Enhanced cooperation in school planning with the State.

These major topics of engagement are discussed further in the 
following paragraphs.

Potential for increased government capital grants
To frame the capital needs of NSW Catholic schools in the 
future, the CECNSW review of capital needs of schools in NSW 
was completed and the concerns of CECNSW made known to 
both the Commonwealth and NSW State Governments. A joint 
report with AIS was provided to the NSW Minister of Education.

Australian Government
Despite specific requests to the Australian Government from 
NCEC and others, no new commitment has been given to 
increase capital funding, which is a priority for NSW 
Catholic schools.

NSW Government
A key outcome of CECNSW lobbying with the NSW Government 
to restore capital grants to non-government schools (removed in 
2012) was the announcement in May 2015 that $50m will be 
made available over the next four years for capital works in 
non-government schools.

Reform of school planning approval pathways
CECNSW liaised extensively with the NSW Department of 
Planning in the latter part of 2016 in relation to proposed 
changes to planning approval pathways for school 
developments. The intent of these amendments to planning 
legislation and regulations was to provide greater certainty to 
the approval process for new and refurbished school projects, 
including both government and non-government schools. 

A draft of the new planning instruments was produced late in 
2016 and placed on public exhibition early in 2017. If the 
proposed changes are ultimately enacted, certainty for projects 
will be enhanced and the required expertise required for 
applications will rise. 
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Local government infrastructure levies for capital works
CECNSW has lobbied the NSW government for exemption for 
capital works in schools from local council infrastructure levies, 
which can add as much as 10% to the cost of such a 
development. It has pointed out that levy income from schools 
is a tiny proportion of overall levies collected by councils (a 
fraction of 1%) and that State schools are exempt. Additionally, 
school developments might occur once every 5–10 years. The 
NSW Minister for Education has asked his Department to 
investigate the income from such levies. CECNSW has offered to 
make available the data collected from non-government schools 
in 2015, which showed levies represented a negligible amount 
for councils each year, but were a much bigger proportion of an 
individual school’s project costs. A decision is expected from the 
Minister in 2017.

Cooperative planning between the government and 
Catholic sectors
During liaison meetings in 2016, the NSW Department of 
Education expressed the desire for increased cooperation in 
school planning between the government non-government 
sectors. Their stated aim was to facilitate developments by both 
parties and to ensure that a development by one party did not 
prejudice the development by another. 

After due consideration, CECNSW provided qualified support for 
this cooperative effort and established a specialist team and 
administrative structures to facilitate the effort. However, the 
initiative has been stalled by the Government, apparently due to 
delays arising from difficulties integrating the planning work of 
the recently created Greater Sydney Commission with that of the 
Department of Education. Consequently, the Government has 
deferred further progress in this area until 2017.

Management and operation of the Catholic Block 
Grant Authority
The NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority receives the capital 
grants from the Australian and NSW governments and is the 
authority responsible to government for ensuring these funds 
are used in accordance with the guidelines under which the 
funds are provided.

CECNSW provides the management, operational capability and 
the administration of the CBGA, reporting to the CBGA Bishop 
Delegate and thence to the NSW Bishops.

The CBGA allocated capital grant funds of approximately $50m 
in 2016 year to 30 school projects. While this capital amount is 
only about 20% of the total capital spend on NSW Catholic 
schools each year, the funds are valuable, particularly for 
schools with a lower capacity to raise funds from the 
school community.

CECNSW concluded a major review of the operations of the 
CBGA in 2016 focussing on the project selection methodology 
and the efficiency of operations. The implementation of major 
agreed recommendations for the 2016 application round was 
deferred during 2016 due to the long lead-time required to 
develop project applications. However, significant improvements 
in data accuracy and consistency were achieved. The approval 
for major process reforms in 2017 was sought and received 
from the NSW bishops and implementation is scheduled for the 
2107 application round.

In addition, the CECNSW assisted the Australian government in 
a routine but extensive review of the degree to which CBGA 
operations were consistent with Commonwealth capital grant 
guidelines. The recommendations of this review were similar to 
that of CECNSW’s own review and will be implemented for the 
2017 application round.
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5.4  Governance Training: School 
Registration Requirements

CECNSW developed four online training modules, which 
address the nine NSW Education Act requirements for School 
Governance. Related Not-for-Profit requirements are also 
addressed. Completion of these four by 1-hour modules meets 
the mandatory annual governance training of Responsible 
Persons as required by the then BOSTES in its compliance 
manuals for school registration. The first four training modules 
are suitable as an Introduction to governance for any newly 
appointed or delegated Responsible Person for a NSW Catholic 
school. Future modules will delve more deeply into particular 
aspects of good governance. A fifth module now in development 
focuses on the importance of school culture to good 
governance. A sixth module will concentrate on financial 
stewardship of NSW Catholic schools.

Governance Training is an ongoing requirement for good school 
management. From 2017, the new NSW Education Standards 
Authority (NESA, formerly BOSTES) will have a more standards 
based approach to school regulation and a requirement for 
schools to manage their risks in relation to registration and 
compliance. Risk Management will be a key compliance and 
governance requirement for all NSW Catholic schools authorities.

There are opportunities for Catholic schools authorities to share 
their governance training experiences, both in-house and third 
party, to provide a mix of governance training platforms and so 
vary the availability of this essential training. Dioceses of Broken 
Bay and Maitland-Newcastle and the Archdiocese of Sydney are 
accredited. They have offered their governance training to other 
Catholic schools’ authorities.

5.5 Public Perception of Catholic Schools
CECNSW strives to ensure that the public perception of the 
contribution of Catholic schools to society is well informed and 
up-to-date. It collaborates regularly with AISNSW and the NSW 
Department of Education to promote the importance of effective 
schooling in NSW and on educational policy issues where 
appropriate. CECNSW works closely with the Minister for 
Education in NSW to both inform and support government 
initiatives.

5.6 Out of School Hours Care (OSHC)
In 2015, the NSW Government committed $20 million to 
establish up to 40,000 additional OSHC places for students in 
government, Catholic and independent schools. The 
Government’s original intention was for this to be a once-off 
funding pool to provide grants of up to $20,000 per site to 
assist with establishment costs and to meet growing community 
demand. The grant application site opened on 3 August 2015.

The Commission endorsed the 2015–2016 Funding Agreement 
between the NSW Government and CECNSW for Before and 
After School Care Funds and noted that the eligibility criteria for 
NSW Before and After School Care Funds were amended in 
2016 so that grants of up to $30,000 are available to establish 
or expand before and after school services.

5.7  HSC Stage 6 Pathways and the 
VET Agenda

Over the last 15 years, the Catholic school sector has provided 
the opportunity for students to undertake Vocational Education 
and Training (VET) courses, which lead to dual credentialing, 
HSC and VET credentials. These VET courses are offered within 
the school, using one of the nine Diocesan Registered Training 
Organisations (RTOs), or at an external delivery site using TAFE 
NSW or another private Registered Training Organisation (RTO).

CECNSW has collaborated with the NSW Department of 
Education (NSW DoE) and AISNSW to purchase courses from 
TAFE NSW and private providers. This has resulted in a broader 
curriculum provision for students in all NSW schools.

NSW DoE conducted a tender for externally delivered VET 
(eVET). This tender established a panel of quality training 
providers that have the necessary skills, resources and 
experience to deliver one or more Board of Studies Teaching and 
Educational Standards NSW (BOSTES) VET courses.

In conjunction with the tender process NSW DoE developed an 
EVET web tool system that enables schools to manage students’ 
expressions of interest to undertake an eVET course in 2017. 
The system allows clarity for schools to manage BOSTES course 
enrolments and course costs. 

NSW Catholic schools have been granted access to this system 
to manage the 2017 new course enrolments through a 
Memorandum of Understanding.
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The purpose of the MOU between NSW DOE and CECNSW is to 
provide for:

 x a standardised pricing model for the purchase of BOSTES 
developed and endorsed Externally delivered VET courses 
(EVET);

 x a standardised application and approval process for NSW 
secondary school students to undertake externally 
delivered VET courses;

 x the use of the NSW DoE developed EVET web tool system 
for all applications for externally delivered VET courses 
where cohorts are formed cross-sectorally; and

 x adherence to the same process and timeline cross-
sectorally.

CECNSW advocated for the HSC to cater for the diverse range of 
students through VET in the BOSTES recent modernisation of 
the HSC.

Work Placement 
Work placement, as part of HSC VET for all NSW schools, has 
been coordinated by private providers known as Work 
Placement Service Providers (WPSPs). These WPSPs currently 
coordinate around 65,000 mandatory HSC VET work 
placements for students across the three education sectors 
who are undertaking Industry Curriculum Framework courses as 
part of their HSC. In previous years, this service was funded by 
the NSW government using Commonwealth funds, but this 
funding ceased at the end of 2015. The Catholic sector has 
approximately 14,000 students enrolled in HSC Industry 
Curriculum Framework VET courses that require a mandatory 
work placement in 2016. The Catholic sector share of work 
placement coordination costs, to support work placement 
co-ordination across NSW for these VET students, was 
approximately $1.73 million for 2016.

CECNSW worked with insurance broker Marsh Pty Ltd to secure 
employer liability cover with QBE Insurance for 18,844 students 
undertaking structured work placement and work experience 
programs. Work placement is a mandatory requirement of all 
school-delivered Industry Curriculum Framework VET courses 
and some Board Endorsed VET courses. This QBE cover 
indemnifies employers, complementing diocesan and school 
policies that provide 24-hour insurance cover to students. 
Policies are provided under strict conditions and exclusions 
are reviewed annually. Reporting is managed by CECNSW.

5.8  Student and Staff Wellbeing 
and Resilience

In collaboration with CSSA, CECNSW held a forum on the link 
between student well-being and school achievement.

5.9 Students with Disabilities
For the first time, in 2016 CECNSW was able to complete the 
Nationally Consistent Collection of Data for students with 
disabilities. This figure is significantly higher than that (SWD) 
used for current funding purposes, refer to page 32.

5.10 The Changing Teaching Workforce
For some time, CECNSW has been promoting the collection of 
more data around the teaching workforce in Australian schools. 
There is a need for school authorities, professional associations 
and governments to identify the changes in the nature of 
teaching, as well as teacher training requirements and key 
capabilities needed to prepare for the future. Further 
developments in this area have been postponed pending a 
decision by the Education Council and Australian Education 
Senior Officials Committee (AESOC)
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 5.11  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Education

CECNSW approved a strategy aimed at delivering improved 
outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students 
that meet the COAG Closing the Gap targets.

CECNSW in 2016 committed to develop and implement a 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). Work was undertaken with 
Reconciliation Australia to progress the drafting of the CECNSW 
RAP. Commissioners unanimously supported the need to model 
reconciliation by adopting a Commission meeting 
‘Acknowledgement of Country’ statement.
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6.1 Board of Studies, Teaching and   
        Educational Standards

Review of the Structure and Mandate of the 
NSW BOSTES
In March 2016, the NSW Government announced an 
independent review of BOSTES, to which CECNSW made a 
submission. The Government accepted the recommendations of 
the review, chaired by Emeritus Professor Bill Louden AM. On 
19 August 2016, the NSW Minister of Education, Adrian Piccoli, 
released the recommendations. Among other measures, the 
new NSW Education Standards Authority (NESA) will:

 x have a board of up to 14;

 x introduce random, risk-based school inspections and 
thematic reviews;

 x Identify schools needing support to meet regulatory 
requirements; and

 x ensure teachers have more curriculum flexibility to engage 
students with deeper learning, using regularly updated 
syllabuses.

The key recommendations are broadly consistent with the 
advice provided by CECNSW.

CECNSW is pleased that its Executive Director, Dr Brian Croke 
has been appointed to NESA.

Strengthening HSC Standards – New Generation HSC 
Commissioners addressed the Ministerial Policy paper for the 
reform of the HSC and identified a number of issues for 
consideration, in particular to consider carefully the place of VET. 

Commissioners supported the proposals finalised by the NSW 
Government for implementation by BOSTES, while still 
expressing a range of unresolved concerns relevant to 
discerning the future of the HSC:

 x Is the HSC credential still relevant and fit for purpose?

 x Are all post Year 12 pathways linked appropriately to 
the HSC?

 x Do the reforms still leave the HSC too ‘exam-dominated’?

 x Are the needs of the whole Year 12 cohort addressed by the 
HSC design in the context of the compulsory participation in 
education or training requirement to age 17 of the NSW 
Education Act?

 x Does a core curriculum for all students need to be applied 
to HSC design? Specifically, should Mathematics be 
compulsory for HSC?

CECNSW will continue to monitor developments as Catholic 
schools engage with the NESA HSC reform processes.

Teacher Accreditation – BOSTES Refusal, Suspension 
and Revocation Policy 
The Education Policy Committee and the CECNSW Inter-
diocesan TAA Group have continued to consider Teacher 
Accreditation matters with a particular focus on the April 2016 
BOSTES ‘Draft Refusal, Suspension and Revocation of 
Accreditation Policy’. CECNSW has worked closely with CCER on 
all such policy review issues. Commissioners raised serious 
concerns with some of the requirements that were subsequently 
withdrawn by the NSW Minister for Education pending the 
BOSTES restructure. It is expected that the Teacher 
Accreditation issues will continue as a priority in 2017.

 Languages Education Review – CECNSW Engagement 
The NSW Languages Advisory Panel, established by the NSW 
Minister for Education in 2015, is tasked with overseeing 
actions to boost the number of students studying languages in 
NSW schools. As part of the work program overseen by the 
Advisory Panel, BOSTES sought a contribution from the NSW 
Catholic sector on two aspects of languages learning. Findings 
of the research were to be developed into a Panel report with 
recommendations regarding languages education for the 
Minister for Education.

CECNSW engagement in the first research aspect, which 
focused on the Languages teaching workforce, included 
investigating:

 x the preparation of graduate languages teachers;

 x the provision of continuing professional learning 
opportunities for languages teachers; and 

 x the enhancement of languages teachers’ career pathways.

The collated Catholic sector responses to the stimulus 
questions were lodged with BOSTES at the end of term 3.

BOSTES directly invited principals of primary and secondary 
schools in NSW to contribute to the second aspect of the 
research by completing an online survey during the period 
22 August to 9 September 2016.

Information collected included demographics, school language 
programs and languages teachers.

The survey was intended to provide a full picture of the current 
state of languages education.

6 Matters Arising from External Sources
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6.2 Australian Government 

Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on Students 
with Disability (NCCD): An Australian Education 
Act Requirement
Since 2015, all government and non-government schools in 
Australia are required to participate annually in the NCCD. 
Nationally in 2015, 9,410 schools participated in the 
data collection.

CECNSW noted that the reporting figures for NCCD are three 
times that for SWD and that there are workload issues for 
schools and their teachers, particularly in secondary schools. 
Critically, the NCCD data is clearly not yet robust enough to be 
used at any level for the purpose of school or student funding. 
CECNSW is maintaining a close watch of developments in 
this area.

Online Safety Program 2016–2017
In 2015, the Australian Government introduced an Online Safety 
Program in Schools initiative. At the time, CECNSW expressed 
dissatisfaction with this type of program, which has small 
funding and disproportionate compliance burdens. On 3 June 
2016, the NSW Department of Education (DoE) advised that the 
NSW Minister had signed the Project Agreement for Online 
Safety Programmes in Schools (OSPS). The Commonwealth 
partner is the Department of Communication with the eSafety 
Commission having management responsibility.

The NSW Catholic funding contributions and targets for both 
2016 and 2017 are: 

NSW Annual funding Hours Schools

Catholic $233,950.82 467 59

Dioceses and Congregational schools received several invitations 
to nominate schools for 2016 implementation. By the end of July 
2016, a total 39 Catholic schools were nominated (20 fewer than 
the annual target).

The eSafety Commission did not agree with either of two 
propositions put by CECNSW to address the shortfall in meeting 
the 2016 NSW Catholic target. Consequently, CECNSW advised 
the NSW DoE that it would not participate in the 2016 
implementation of the Online Safety Programs in Schools 
initiative, but that it will return to the Program in 2017.

National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
and schools
Commissioners were given a high-level briefing on the NDIS 
interface with school-based interventions to support eligible 
students with qualifying disabilities. They noted that CECNSW is 
required to progress any NDIS policy concerns through the NSW 
Department of Education; that NDIS assumes that schools will 
continue to be responsible for a range of delivery matters in 
respect of students with disability; and NDIS will be responsible 
for the delivery of the following services and supports for school 
students with disability: 

 x Therapy with consent of the school principal;

 x Individualised equipment;

 x Personal care at home and in the community

 x Specialist Behaviour Support assessment;

 x After school and vacation care;

 x Support for parents and carers ‘respite’ – in home or 
external to home; and

 x Support coordination for complex needs; and training for 
school staff in relation to individual student needs – e.g. 
lifting, positioning, using hoists, behaviour intervention.

In addition, CECNSW identified Catholic school principals as key 
NDIS implementation personnel requiring advice and agreed 
that the CECNSW SWD Working Party, in collaboration with the 
Education Policy Committee, should monitor NDIS developments 
impacting NSW Catholic schools and provide advice to the 
Commission as necessary.
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National Assessment Program – Literacy and 
Numeracy (NAPLAN) 2016
Preliminary 2016 national NAPLAN results were released on 
3 August 2016. Final 2016 NAPLAN results were released on 
7 December.

ACARA analysis of national NAPLAN data shows two 
major trends:

 x stable or ‘flatlining’ mean scores across all year levels in 
Reading and Numeracy, and

 x significant decline in Writing mean scores, particularly in 
Years 7 and 9.

 x In summary, the 2016 NSW Catholic schools’ data show:

— Significant decline in Writing mean scores from Year 3 
through to Year 9;

— The percentage of students below the National Minimum 
Standard (NMS) increasing from Year 3 to Year 9 in 
reading and writing;

— Percentages of students in the top two bands of 
achievement dropping off from Year 3 through to Year 9, 
most markedly in Writing (61.0% in Year 3 – 12.6% in 
Year 9); and

— Congregational schools, Sydney Catholic Schools and 
Broken Bay Diocese consistently ranking as the highest 
three in Years 3 and 5 across all domains, and more 
generally in Years 7 and 9.

In their discussion of the preliminary results, Commissioners 
noted:

 x The flatlining issue. Matters canvased included: 

— the changing profile of school populations

— test design changes, and 

— student engagement (Year 9). 

 x The need to explore more openly the causes of the 
‘flatlining’ of results.

 x The challenge presented by the writing domain and again 
the need to separate actual performance issues from 
contextual matters e.g. test design.

 x The need to address NAPLAN as a periodic assessment tool 
rather than an educational aim or objective in and of itself.

 x The link to the new Year 9 NAPLAN standard for HSC 
eligibility.

 x The Australian Government’s policy objective for Year 1 
assessment and reporting annually to parents against 
agreed national literacy and numeracy standards.

NAPLAN Online: Implementation by 2019
On 23 May 2016, CECNSW hosted a forum preparing for the 
transition to NAPLAN Online. Over 100 representatives from 
Diocesan offices and Congregational schools attended. 
Representatives from ACARA, Education Services Australia, 
NSW BOSTES and the NSW Department of Education provided 
updates and responses to emerging issues, such as the delivery 
of tests on unmanaged devices and processes associated with 
the move to online testing.

Issues identified by participants provide the focus of future work 
for the CECNSW NAPLAN Online Expert Working Party:

 x the costs associated with school readiness;

 x increased responsibility of schools to deliver tests;

 x ensuring equity of access to and familiarity with devices;

 x IT support required at the school level and the associated 
increased workload for test administrators; and

 x implications for current analytical tools to assist with the 
analysis of data; and communication with schools, parents 
and the broader community.

NSW Catholic schools were involved in a dedicated study of Year 
3 completing their writing test online. This study informed the 
decision to continue with Year 3 NAPLAN Writing as a paper test, 
potentially to 2019. BOSTES has announced that NSW schools 
will continue with pen and paper NAPLAN in 2017. This will allow 
for continued planning to ensure all our schools and students 
are ready for NAPLAN Online when it commences.
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6.3 NSW Government

Numeracy and Literacy Strategy 2017–2020
From 2012 to 2016, CECNSW received $38.8m under the NSW 
Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan.

On 21 September 2016, Premier Baird and Education Minister 
Piccoli announced the NSW Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan 
2017–2020.

Features of the new 2017–2020 strategy are:

 x Continuing focus on intervention in the early years of 
schooling;

 x Clear guidance on explicit teaching and better, faster 
diagnostic assessments;

 x More support for literacy and numeracy in secondary 
schools;

 x Quality training for teacher education students in literacy 
and numeracy; and

 x Rigorous evaluation to focus investment and effort on 
what works.

In addition, it is understood that the NSW Government has 
agreed to develop complementary literacy and numeracy 
resources for parents.

All elements of the Strategy are being coordinated by the 
NSW Literacy and Numeracy Working Group. This Group has 
representatives from the three school education sectors, 
BOSTES and the Minister’s Office. Rosalie Nott is the 
CECNSW representative.

In continuing the K–2 Action Plan for another four years, the 
Government intends to provide $42.5 million to CECNSW. The 
funds will create an additional 70 FTE literacy and numeracy 
instructional leadership positions in 99 Catholic schools that 
have been targeted by reference to the number of results in the 
bottom two bands of NAPLAN and the total number of student 
test participation results. 

Commissioners noted that there are several aspects to the NSW 
Government’s Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan initiative, since 
its commencement in 2012 and now in this second phase, which 
can explain the impact of the Phase 1 initiative. They include: 

 x The Plan’s strong alignment with Diocesan authorities’ 
priorities and school improvement processes;

 x Focus on student learning, classroom practice and school 
leadership rather than funding amounts;

 x Capacity to address local needs while maintaining fidelity to 
the Action Plan priorities; and

 x Outcomes of the Erebus Review of Phase 1 2012 – 2016.

Early Years Education and Out of School Care
Addressed earlier in Achievements on page 28.
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Legislative Council Inquiry into Child Protection
The Legislative Council established an Inquiry into Child 
Protection. In essence, this Inquiry, which is yet to report, focused 
on Family and Children’s Services (FACS) related matters.

Key inquiry focus issues have included:

 x How FACS responds to Reports of Significant Harm (ROSH);

 x How FACS supports Out of Home Care;

 x How FACS manages and supports foster carers;

 x Interagency management as between FACS and the Office 
of the Children’s Guardian; and

 x Specific issues for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
children of young people.

Commissioners identified the following issues for collaboration 
to progress through the Inquiry:

 x ROSH threshold criteria. Principals are concerned that FACS 
fails to action many of the notifications made by schools;

 x FACS tends to ignore ROSH reports concerning failure to 
attend school when students are in the middle years of 
High School;

 x The raised school leaving age to 17 has been largely 
ignored by FACS;

 x Support for foster carers needs to be improved (identified 
as an area for inquiry attention);

 x There is a failure to provide continuity of support for 
children at risk of serious harm; and

 x The FACS Reporting process does not allow for the multiple 
reporting of the same family. There is no clear focus on the 
needs of high-risk families as distinct from individual 
children.

The Catholic Education and Social Services Co-ordinating 
Committee on behalf of CECNSW developed a Catholic sector 
response to these issues, which was forwarded to the Inquiry. 
CECNSW representatives also attended a public hearing held on 
26 September 2016 and subsequently provided answers to 
Questions on Notice.

Legislative Inquiry into Students with a Disability
On 24 August 2016, the NSW Legislative Council announced an 
Inquiry into the provision of education to students with disability 
or special needs in government and non-government schools in 
NSW. The Terms of Reference for this Inquiry are set out below.:

 a. equitable access to resources for students with a disability or 
special needs in regional and metropolitan areas

 b. the impact of the Government’s ‘Every Student Every School’ 
policy on the provision of education to students with a 
disability or special needs in New South Wales public 
schools

 c. developments since the 2010 inquiry by General Purpose 
Standing Committee No. 2 into the provision of education to 
students with a disability or special needs and the 
implementation of its recommendations

 d. complaint and review mechanisms within the school systems 
in New South Wales for parents and carers, and

 e. any other related matters.

The CECNSW submission focused on a, c and d, and referenced 
the CECNSW advice given to the 2010 Legislative Inquiry into 
‘Special Needs’. It included an introductory section containing 
critical statistics for the NSW Catholic schools. The CECNSW 
submission was due to be finalised by 26 February 2017.
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State Asset Planning Collaboration (SAPCOL) 
Steering Committee
Given the recognition of the need to increase student places in 
NSW schools by a large number over the next 10–15 years to 
meet increased demand, the NSW Department of Education (DoE) 
requested that the non-government school sectors collaborate 
with it in respect of school planning matters.

Identifying, monitoring and expanding school assets is a part 
of the wider agenda on school planning and demographic 
forecasting for schools, which is now taking place on several 
fronts.

In July 2016, commissioners established the State Asset Planning 
Collaboration (“SAPCOL”) Steering Committee to provide guidance 
and advice on dealing with DoE in relation to asset planning 
matters. Primary engagement is with the Planning and 
Demography group within the NSW DoE.

The CECNSW Secretariat has been meeting with the Department 
for some time as part of the DoE’s general engagement of capital 
matters with the non-government schools sector. To meet the 
challenges of growth in student numbers, it is envisaged that this 
engagement will become more formalised and more extensive.

In addition to collaboration at this NSW DoE level, the CECNSW 
Executive Director, Dr Brian Croke engaged with the NSW State 
Government through meetings with the new Greater Sydney 
Commission. These meetings involve broader government wide 
planning issues and include the NSW Treasury, the NSW 
Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC), Urban Growth, NSW 
Transport and the NSW Department of Planning & Environment. 

The intent of the Greater Sydney Commission is to facilitate the 
coordination of planning activity across government by bringing 
together all the relevant parties at a senior enough level to be 
able to make progress by removing any roadblocks. 
Commissioners found this approach encouraging because it 
demonstrates that the NSW government has now clearly realised 
the importance of schools in capital and infrastructure planning.

Commissioners noted that the NSW DoE and the wider 
government has a strong focus on addressing the looming 
problem of providing extra school places. Furthermore, the crucial 
role of the non-government, particularly the Catholic, sector in 
helping to address the problem is well recognised.

On behalf of the CBGA, the CECNSW Secretariat is reviewing the 
condition and capacity of existing schools across NSW. This will 
allow a state-wide view, in consultation with diocesan planners, 
of the degree to which existing schools may help to meet the 
demand for increased enrolments over coming years.

6 Matters Arising from External Sources
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Assistant Director Policy
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Professional Assistant 
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Administrative Assistant 
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PA to Director

IT Support Services
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Senior Accountant
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Finance Officer
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CECNSW Receptionist
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Executive Director

Professional Officer 
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7 Work of the Secretariat



38 | Catholic Education Commission NSW

7.2 Executive Director’s Office
The Executive Director is Dr Brian Croke who:

 x represents the NSW Catholic schools sector on high level 
national and state education bodies

 x manages the CECNSW Secretariat

 x attends meetings of the NSW/ACT Bishops to provide advice 
on education strategic directions, education policies and 
resource matters

 x ensures compliance with the CECNSW Charter

 x provides a statistical and research service to diocesan 
Catholic schools’ authorities on school resources and 
demographics

 x advocates for NSW Catholic schools with governments and 
other agencies

 x co-ordinates with other Catholic education and related 
organisations on behalf of NSW Catholic schools, and

 x supports Crossroads implementation.

Dr Croke is also:

 x a Commissioner of the National Catholic Education 
Commission

 x Chair of the NSW Ministerial Schools Advisory Council

 x Deputy Chair of the NSW Board of Studies, Teaching and 
Education Standards (BoSTES), and

 x a member of the Board of Directors of the:

— Australian Council for Education Research, and

— Education Services Australia

Staffing of the Executive Director’s Office 

Executive Director Dr Brian Croke 1.0

Executive Assistant to the 
Executive Director 

Anne Phillips 1.0

Senior Manager Government 
Relations and Media 

Jim Hanna 1.0

Professional Officer, Information 
Management & Digital 
Communications

Kristi Jarvis 1.0

Professional Assistant to the 
Executive Director

Dr Tony McArthur 1.0

Principal Research Officer Crichton Smith 1.0

Data Management Support 
Officer

Elizabeth Smith 0.6

TOTAL FTE 6.6

7.3 Education Policy and Programs
The Education Policy and Programs Directorate is led by the 
Director, Ian Baker. 

This Directorate covers the following responsibilities:

Advocacy and Liaison 
Representing NSW Catholic schools
Grant Programs

 x Advises on national funding model loadings within the 
national funding model e.g. SWD data collection and low 
English language proficiency definitions

 x Liaises with governments on the administration of special 
grant programs

 x Ensures that grant authorities are satisfied that targeted 
grant conditions are met and “value for money” is achieved

Education Programs

 x Participates in the development of national and state 
education programs

 x Advocates for Catholic religious freedom with governments 
and in other forums

 x Liaises with cross sectoral agencies on key education 
issues

 x Compiles sectoral reports to demonstrate achievement of 
education outcomes against government targets

 x Negotiates and supports teaching standards with BOSTES 
and AITSL

 x Compliance

 x Undertakes environmental scans on compliance issues.

 x Liaises with governments and their agencies on compliance 
matters including negotiations on the cost of compliance 
such as “Students First” requirements and BOSTES school 
registration

 x Liaises with cross sectoral agencies with a view to resolving 
compliance issues, including ACARA and BOSTES Teacher 
Professional Development

 x Negotiates funding for NSW Catholic teacher professional 
development

7 Work of the Secretariat
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Services to NSW Catholic schools

 x Supports Crossroads implementation

 x Manages government education programs

 x Maintains sectoral databases relating to specific programs 

 x Advises on grant administration requirements and 
acquitting the accountabilities of targeted programs 

 x Coordinates the audits of targeted education programs and 
the finalisation of grant requirements

 x Advises on BOSTES and ACARA curriculum requirements

 x Advises Diocesan Catholic schools authorities and 
congregational schools on implementation of government 
education programs

 x Undertakes research and develops education materials

 x Manages government mandated education testing regimes 
such as NAPLAN

 x Provides data analyses on HSC results and other education 
outcomes

 x Liaises with other Catholic agencies for the coordination of 
effort or to resolve sectoral issues

 x Coordinates implementation of government education 
policies and intra sectoral guidelines

 x Runs forums on key education issues

 x Disseminates information on key education issues 
Supports teacher accreditation

 x  Monitors the legal environment impacting schooling

 x  Disseminates information on compliance matters and 
related legal issues

 x Provides an advisory service on compliance matters 
Coordinates implementation of key schools compliance 
requirements and other legal matters

 x Manages the eBulletin, weekly advice to Catholic schools 
authorities

 x Supports child protection KTS implementation 

 x Coordinates professional development compliance for 
diocesan Catholic schools’ authorities and congregational 
schools 

 x Coordinates professional development activities for NSW 
Catholic teachers and keeping of databases, especially for 
VET teachers

 x Implements Catholic Mission and Identity projects

Staffing of the Education Policy and Programs 
Directorate

Director Ian Baker 1.0

Assistant Director, Education 
Policy

Rosalie Nott 1.0

Personal Assistant to Director Erica Boundy 1.0

State Coordinator, Vocational 
Education

Gerard Delany 1.0

Administrative Assistant Lee-Anne Evans 0.6

State Coordinator, Assessment 
Programs and Early Learning 
Support

Karen Ferrante 1.0

State Coordinator, Mission and 
Student Wellbeing

Peter Grace 1.0

State Coordinator, Special 
Learning Needs

Geraldine Gray 1.0

Administrative Assistant Melinda Roche 1.0

State Coordinator, Aboriginal 
Education

Jayde Mills 1.0

Accountability and Compliance 
Officer

Margaret O’Connor 1.0

TOTAL FTE 10.6
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7.4 Resources, Policy and Capital Programs
The Resources Policy and Capital Programs Directorate is led by 
the Director, Brian McDonald.

This Directorate serves CECNSW, provides administrative 
support to the Catholic Block Grant Authority (CBGA) Delegate 
and covers the following responsibilities:

Advocacy and Liaison Representing NSW 
Catholic schools
CECNSW

 x Negotiates recurrent funding requirements with the 
Australian and NSW Governments

 x Liaises with governments on the administration of recurrent 
funding programs

 x Liaises with the Australian Bureau of Statistics on key 
statistics relating to schools’ administration

 x Liaises with cross sectoral agencies on schools’ resources 
matters

 x Ensures that grant authorities are satisfied that recurrent 
funding conditions are met and “value for money” is 
achieved

 x Coordinates the annual census of schools as required 
under legislation

 x Coordinates the annual Financial Questionnaire for the NSW 
Catholic schools system to the Australian Government 
Department of Education and Training

 x Coordinates the submission of school financial information 
for publication in MySchool

Catholic Block Grant Authority NSW

 x Negotiates block grant funding with the Australian and 
NSW Governments

 x Liaises with the Australian and NSW Governments on the 
administration of block grants

 x Liaises with the NSW Government to improve processing 
of development applications

 x Liaises with other Block Grant Authorities and other cross 
sectoral agencies on block grant matters

 x Ensures that governmental block grant funding conditions 
are met and “value for money” is achieved

Services to NSW Catholic schools

CECNSW

 x Manages the development of recurrent funding models for 
diocesan Catholic schools’ authorities, including analyses of 
resource needs and cost profiles

 x Maintains sectoral databases on schools’ resources, 
numbers of students, numbers and profile of teachers 
and demographics of schools

 x Facilitates forums to better understand school resource 
matters and to share strategies across NSW Catholic 
schools’ authorities

 x Advises on recurrent funding conditions, and on their 
administration and acquittal

 x Coordinates the audits of recurrent funding programs 
and the finalisation of grant requirements

 x Provides briefings on block grant programs

 x Undertakes surveys and develops materials to support 
sectoral block grant applications

Catholic Block Grant Authority NSW

 x Maintains databases in support of sectoral applications

 x Coordinates sectoral applications, develops application 
guidelines and ensures compliance with funding criteria

 x Manages CBGA block programs on behalf of the NSW 
Catholic schools sector and coordinates acquittals 
of grants.

Staffing of the Resources Policy and Capital 
Programs Directorate

Director Brian McDonald 1.0

Personal Assistant to Director Bela Ramos 1.0

Education Officer, School Data Andrew Forbes 1.0

Professional Assistant, State 
Priority Committee 

Greg Kervin 0.6

Administrative Assistant, Capital 
Programs 

Natalie Bell 0.6

Coordinator, Capital Grants 
Programs

Kevin Morrison 1.0

Financial Modeller Natalie Bui 1.0

TOTAL FTE 6.2
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7.5 Corporate Services
The Corporate Services Directorate is led by John Kitney, who is 
also the Commission Secretary. This is a general support group 
with a particular responsibility for corporate governance.

The responsibilities of the Directorate are as follows:

 x Secretarial support for the Commission and the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee

 x Secretariat Office administration

 x Corporate compliance

 x Risk management, and

 x Support for:

— Finance, Accounting and Treasury

— Human Relations, and

— Information Technology.

The Corporate Services Directorate also carries out the following 
functions in direct support of NSW Catholic schools.

Advocacy and Liaison Representing NSW 
Catholic schools

 x Manages the CECNSW public website which inter alia 
disseminates information to and about NSW Catholic 
schools and is the portal for CECNSW business

Services to NSW Catholic schools

 x Safeguards grant funds in transit

 x Effects the distribution of school grants to Diocesan 
Catholic schools authorities and congregational schools

 x Manages the CECNSW website, which supports education 
programs, and the dissemination of information and data 
analyses

 x Provides IT support for the maintenance of certain 
education databases

 x Manages certain events and awards of a state-wide nature

 x Provides IT and administrative support for certain 
educational forums

 x Manages archives of CECNSW initiated state-wide 
educational resources

 x Corporate governance support for CECNSW

Staffing of the Corporate Services Directorate

Director John Kitney 1.0

Personal Assistant to Director Suzanne Palmer 1.0

Accountant Mei Jones 1.0

Receptionist Angela Cain 1.0

IT Project Management Officer Belinda Christie 1.0

Corporate Services Officer Christine 
McDonnell

1.0

Senior Accountant Andrew Mandigora 1.0

Finance Officer John Salman 0.6

TOTAL FTE 7.6
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8.1 Schools 
Schools % of schools Change from 2015

Primary 422 72% 1

Secondary 131 22% –1

Combined primary/secondary 28 5% –1

Special 7 1% 1

Total 588 0

*The differences in school numbers by type from 2016–2015 in part, reflect changing school classification

8.2 Students
Schools % of schools Change from 2015

Primary 130,312 51% 83

Secondary 125,461 49% 334

Total 255,773 417

8.3 Specific student groups
Students % of students Change from 2015

Students with disabilities 13,421 5% 68.4

Indigenous students 7,634 3% 426.6

Full fee-paying overseas students 354 0.1% 46

Boarding students 2192 0.9% –23

8 NSW Summary Statistics
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8.4 Enrolment trends in NSW Catholic schools

Student enrolments

150,000

170,000

190,000

210,000

230,000

250,000

270,000

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

   
   

   
19

97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

Primary and secondary student enrolments

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

120,000

130,000

140,000

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

   
   

   
19

97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

Primary Secondary



44 | Catholic Education Commission NSW

Students with disabilities
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Students
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Staff (full-time equivalent) in NSW Catholic schools, 2016

Staff % of Staff Change from 2015

Teachers (including principals) 17,183 76% 297.1

Non-teaching staff 5,364 24% 153.5

Total staff 22,547 450.6

Teaching staff, including principals (FTE), 2016

Staff % of teachers Change from 2015

Primary 6,847.7 39.9% 123.7

Secondary 8,227.1 47.9% 147.7

Combined 2,011.1 11.7% 17.6

Special 97.0 0.6% 8.1

Female 12,326.7 71.7% 293.1

Male 4,856.2 28.3% 4.0

Primary teachers

Female 5,915.2 34.4% 117.5

Male 932.5 5.4% 6.2

Secondary teachers

Female 5,094.1 29.6% 150.9

Male 3,133.0 18.2% –3.2

Special school teachers

Female 71.2 0.4% –2.7

Male 25.8 0.2% 10.8

Student/staff ratios (FTE), 2016

Primary Secondary Total

Student/teaching staff 19 15 15

Student/total staff 15 12 11
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Sources of Funding 2015

8 NSW Summary Statistics

54%
Commonwealth Grants 

29%
Private Income

17%
State Grants

Recurrent Income per student (avg)
Primary 
Schools

Secondary 
Schools

Combined 
Schools 

Special 
Schools

All  
Schools

Australian Government recurrent income  7,224  8,491  7,045  19,674  7,809 

NSW Government recurrent income  2,329  2,747  2,521  11,221  2,554 

Private fees and charges  1,601  4,954  7,595  2,892  3,542 

Other private income  620  769  959  8,611  734 

Total gross income  11,774  16,961  18,119  42,398  14,639 

Net recurrent income  11,414  16,164  16,691  40,092  14,000 

 
Capital Expenditure per student (avg)

Primary 
Schools

Secondary 
Schools 

Combined 
Schools 

Special 
Schools

All  
Schools

Australian Government capital expenditure  77  192  15  2,320  130 

NSW Government capital expenditure  24  34  5  120  27 

New school loans  95  552  5  -    292 

Current capital projects  95  298  832  817  242 

Other  354  918  681  1,345  632 

Total  645  1,994  1,538  4,603  1,323 

Note: In this chart government grants 
include allocations to both systemic 

and congregational schools
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9 Summary Statistics for Diocesan and Congregational Schools

9.1 Schools
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 19 26 36 19 34 44 56 112 27 18 29 2 422

Secondary 3 4 7 3 11 8 22 36 5 0 8 24 131

Combined 2 3 1 5 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 15 28

Special 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 5 7

Total 24 33 44 27 45 54 78 150 32 18 37 46 588

Boarding schools 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 11 14

Total 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 11 14

Note: Combined schools teach both primary and secondary grades

9.2 Students (Full-time equivalent)
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 3,971 5,818 11,742 4,402 9,346 10,533 22,562 39,222 4,828 1,996 10,869 5,024 130,312

Secondary 1,982 3,376 6,214 2,540 8,092 8,253 20,417 30,597 3,812 0 7,710 32,470 125,461

Total 5,953 9,193 17,956 6,942 17,438 18,786 42,979 69,818 8,640 1,996 18,579 37,494 255,773

9.3 Boarding Students (Full-time equivalent)
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Secondary 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 269 0 0 1,898 2,192

9.4 Full Fee Paying Overseas Students
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 0 1 4 0 2 2 6 10 2 0 0 4 31

Secondary 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 11 0 0 0 308 323

Total 0 1 4 0 3 3 8 21 2 0 0 312 354
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9.5 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Students
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 409 446 196 211 526 637 370 621 191 318 307 37 4,269

Secondary 152 190 144 90 350 388 387 489 126 0 280 769 3,365

Total 561 636 340 301 876 1,025 757 1,110 317 318 587 806 7,634

9.6 Students with disabilities
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 215 182 570 164 761 690 1,070 2,240 207 127 534 435 7,194

Secondary 99 111 364 101 429 448 733 2,151 179 0 420 1,193 6,227

Total 314 293 934 265 1,190 1,138 1,803 4,391 386 127 954 1,628 13,421

9.7 Nationally Consistent Collection Data on School Students with Disabilities
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 841 1,332 2,164 649 1,935 3,008 2,859 7,986 850 395 2,010 278 2,4307

Secondary 671 1,030 1,167 454 1,050 1,477 2,119 5,286 901 NA 1,437 4,780 20,372

Total 1,512 2,362 3,331 1,103 2,985 4,485 4,978 13,272 1,751 395 3,447 5,058 44,679

9.8 Catholic and Other-than-Catholic Primary and Secondary Students
Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Catholic Primary 2,196 4,213 10,188 2,600 5,471 7,039 17,250 31,277 3,380 1,400 8,995 4,428 98,437

Other-than-Catholic 
Primary 1,775 1,603 1,554 1,802 3,875 3,494 5,310 7,944 1,448 595 1,874 596 31,870

Catholic Secondary 1,166 2,376 4,818 1,487 4,719 5,613 14,354 22,436 2,792 0 5,643 26,491 91,895

Other-than-Catholic 
Secondary 815 997 1,394 1,052 3,366 2,639 6,059 8,156 1,020 0 2,067 5,971 33,536

Catholic Students 
% Total 56% 72% 84% 59% 58% 67% 74% 77% 71% 70% 79% 82% 74%

Other-than-Catholic 
Students % Total 44% 28% 16% 41% 42% 33% 26% 23% 29% 30% 21% 18% 26%

9 Summary Statistics for Diocesan and Congregational Schools
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9.9 Teaching staff, including principals (full time equivalent)
Primary Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Male 173 249 553 194 440 455 1,116 1,881 237 127 476 14 5,915

Female 20 42 77 37 113 97 156 227 48 26 86 4 933

Total 192 292 630 231 553 552 1,272 2,108 285 154 562 18 6,848

Secondary Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Male 90 157 272 84 307 363 903 1,376 169 0 346 1,027 5,094

Female 50 89 136 55 312 235 541 819 119 0 199 578 3,133

Total 140 247 408 139 619 598 1,443 2,195 288 0 545 1,605 8,227

Combined Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Male 50 74 68 104 0 47 0 27 0 0 0 877 1,246

Female 11 25 38 42 0 18 0 29 0 0 0 602 765

Total 61 99 106 146 0 65 0 57 0 0 0 1,479 2,011

Special Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Male 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 4 0 0 0 62 71

Female 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 24 26

Total 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 5 0 0 0 85 97

All teachers Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Male 312 480 892 382 747 871 2,018 3,289 406 127 822 1,980 12,327

Female 81 157 251 133 424 351 697 1,076 167 26 285 1,207 4,856

Total 393 637 1,143 516 1,172 1,222 2,715 4,365 573 154 1,107 3,187 17,183

9.10 Non-teaching staff (full time equivalent)
Non-Teaching Staff Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Female 113 165 222 98 382 299 503 959 148 66 276 1,042 4,273

Male 81 157 251 133 424 351 697 1,076 167 26 285 1,207 4,856

Total 194 322 473 231 806 650 1,200 2,035 315 92 561 2,250 9,130
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9.13 Vocational Education and Training –Students and Teachers

9.3.1 Student Enrolment by Course

Subject Name
Male 

Enrolment
Female 

Enrolment
Total 

Enrolment

Automotive 1,329 80 1,409

Business Services 657 1,500 2,157

Construction 2,973 52 3,025

Electro-technology 789 22 811

Entertainment 
Industry

356 480 836

Financial Services 145 75 220

Hospitality 1,615 3,065 4,680

Human Services 69 731 800

Information and 
Digital Technology

730 104 834

Metal and 
Engineering

535 8 543

Board Endorsed 
Courses

2,424 4,261 6,685

Primary Industries 273 138 411

Retail Services 235 643 878

Tourism, Travel and 
Events

108 684 792

Total 12,238 11,843 24,081

9 Summary Statistics for Diocesan and Congregational Schools

9.11 Student/teaching staff ratio (full time equivalent)
Non-Teaching Staff Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 17.3 16.9 17.8 15.1 16.9 18.1 17.7 18.6 17.0 13.0 19.3 13.2 19.0

Secondary 12.5 12.0 12.9 11.5 13.1 13.0 14.1 13.6 13.2 0.0 14.1 12.1 15.2

All Students 15.1 14.4 15.7 13.5 14.9 15.4 15.8 16.0 15.1 13.0 16.8 11.8 14.9

9.12 Student/All staff ratio (full time equivalent)
Non-Teaching Staff Arm Bat Bro Can Lis Mai Par Syd Wag Wil Wol Cong NSW

Primary 12.5 12.8 15.0 12.4 11.9 13.9 14.7 14.7 13.6 8.6 15.0 7.9 14.9

Secondary 9.7 9.1 10.3 9.1 9.3 10.4 11.5 10.9 9.5 0.0 11.3 8.1 11.6

All Students 11.2 11.0 13.0 10.9 10.5 12.0 13.0 12.7 11.4 8.6 13.2 7.9 11.3

9.3.2 Professional Development
CECNSW coordinates the training of VET teachers for all NSW 
Catholic schools. The numbers of new VET teachers trained 
cross-sectorally during 2016 were:

Training Participants

Construction 15

Business Services 24

Entertainment 3

Information and Digital Technology 6

Metal and Engineering 4

Primary Industries 4

Retail Services 3

Hospitality – Commercial Cookery 14

Hospitality – Food and Beverage 5

Generic Orientation BECS 10
Total 88
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9.14 Students with disabilities

Maitland-Newcastle
Bathurst

Parramatta

Armidale
Lismore

Broken Bay

Sydney

Wollongong

Wilcannia-Forbes

Canberra Goulburn
Wagga Wagga

54 Schools
1,138 SWDs
4,485 NCCDs

34 Schools
307 SWDs
2,464 NCCDs

85 Schools
2048 SWDs
5,602 NCCDs

24 Schools
314 SWDs
1,512 NCCDs 46 Schools

1,266 SWDs
3,284 NCCDs

53 Schools
1,360 SWDs
4,436 NCCDs

169 Schools
4,883 SWDs
15,171 NCCDs45 Schools

1,286 SWDs
4,283 NCCDs

19 Schools
170 SWDs
588 NCCDs

27 Schools
265 SWDs
1,103 NCCDs

32 Schools
386 SWDs
1,751 NCCDs

2016 Totals:
Schools  588
SWDs  13,422
NCCD  44,680

44,680
Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on  
School Students with a Disability (NCCD)
NCCD requires the application of the full definition under the  
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA).

13,422
Students with Disability (SWD)
SWD census definition requires application of the NSW state criteria,  
which is a subset of the Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) criteria.
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10.1 National Schools Funding Model
The National Education Reform Agreement (NERA) signed 
between the Commonwealth and participating States in 2013 is 
predicated on a National Schools Funding Model, which takes 
into consideration all sources of funding in the allocation of 
resources to individual schools. Consequently, Commonwealth 
and State recurrent grants are allocated to schools in the same 
manner, assigning a base amount per student and a mix of 
loadings to address a range of student and school needs. 
Needs-based funding arrangements apply to both 
Commonwealth and State recurrent funding received by non 
government schools located in a participating State or Territory. 
(Australian Education Regulation 2013 [Reg 61])

10.2  Australian and NSW Governments 
Recurrent Funding 2016

For 2016, school recurrent grants were based upon legislation, 
procedures and accountability requirements under the 
Australian Education Act 2013, the Australian Education 
Regulation 2013 and the funding agreement with the Australian 
Government Department of Education and Training (AGDET). 
Recurrent grants are paid to CECNSW through NSW State 
Treasury.

CECNSW’s agreement with the Australian Government for 
funding under the Australian Education Act 2013 requires 
annual certification of compliance with certain education 
accountability requirements. In order to demonstrate its 
accountability, CECNSW certified to AGDET the compliance of 
the NSW Catholic schools’ system. This included certification of 
the financial health of all systemic schools. In 2016, Dioceses 
certified compliance for the year 2015 across four 
requirements:

 1. implementation of the Australian Curriculum (Teach, Assess 
and Report on Student Achievement Standards in the 
Curriculum) as required in NSW

 2. collection and reporting of required student background 
characteristics information

 3. issuance of readily understandable reports (A to E or 
equivalent) on student achievement to parents and 
carers, and

 4. implementation of the Australian Teacher Performance and 
Development Framework and provision of access to 
ongoing professional development consistent with the 
Australian Charter for the Professional Learning of Teachers 
and School Leaders.

 5. In 2016, the Australian Government provided $1.813 billion 
in recurrent grants to CECNSW for the NSW Catholic schools 
system, comprising 78% base grant and 22% loadings. This 
represents a $88 million increase in Commonwealth 
recurrent funds from 2015 ($1.72 billion). The loadings 
comprise: 

 x Students with Disabilities

 x Indigenous

 x Low Socio-Economic Status

 x Low English Language Proficiency

 x School Location, and 

 x School Size 

The six loadings are designed to address additional student 
needs and replace many Commonwealth targeted programs and 
National Partnerships, which ceased in 2013.

Also in 2016, the NSW Government paid $538 million to 
CECNSW for State recurrent grants to NSW Catholic systemic 
schools. This represents a $19 million increase in State 
recurrent funds from 2015 ($518.7 million)

The provision for State Government recurrent funding for 
NSW Catholic schools is legislated under Section 83B of the 
Education Act 1990. In 2016, contractual arrangements, 
including accountability requirements, with the NSW 
Government were mediated through the NSW Department 
of Education (DoE).

Students First Support Fund 
Following the signing of the NERA in April 2013, it was 
announced that the National Plan for School Improvement 
(NPSI) would be adopted by the NSW Government as its 
blueprint for NSW school reform.

10 School Resourcing
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As required by the Commonwealth, CECNSW developed an 
Implementation Plan addressing the five objectives of the 
Australian Education Act 2013, interpreted in the context of the 
Abbott Government’s education policy commitments, namely:

 x Quality Teaching

 x Quality Learning

 x Empowered school leadership

 x Transparency and accountability, and

 x Meeting student needs.

Approval of this plan, known as ‘Students First’, allowed funds 
to be granted to CECNSW for the support of systemic schools 
beginning 2014 ($4.6m per year for four years 2014–2017). 
All Congregational schools were required to finalise a school 
improvement plan by 2015. The adoption of the Implementation 
Plan committed dioceses, through CECNSW, to a range of 
school reform requirements and tasks consistent with: 

 x The relevant Education Council resolutions and agreements

 x The Australian Government Department of Education and 
Training Guide for the implementation of the Australian 
Education Act 2013 and Regulation 2013

 x The Commonwealth and State of NSW NERA Bilateral 
Agreement as executed 4 August 2013, and

 x The BOSTES requirements in relation to NSW school 
curriculum and school and teacher registration.

 x Subsequent additional Australian Government requirements 
related to: 

 x the success indicators CECNSW intended to use to monitor 
the impact of the identified activities, and 

 x a notional estimate of how funding was to be allocated 
across each of the five objectives.

CECNSW is required to report, annually, progress towards 
achieving its Implementation Plan. The 2016 Statement is due 
in March 2017. 

Targeted Education Grants
Recurrent grants assist schools with recurring costs, mainly 
staff salaries. Targeted education grants provide funding for 
certain specific government priorities such as the NSW Literacy 
and Numeracy Action Plan, special learning needs, vocational 
education, road safety education, and the national schools 
chaplaincy program. In 2016, $16.2 million in Targeted 
Education Programs grants were disbursed.

10.3 Parental Contributions
School fees and donations make up the balance of total 
operating income (approximately $800 million or almost 30% of 
recurrent funding).

School fees are determined by the diocesan Catholic schools’ 
authorities or parishes and individual Congregational schools. 
They vary significantly across NSW Catholic schools. Lower 
socio-economic systemic schools and special schools generate 
a lower proportion of their funding requirements from private 
income. On the other hand, some Congregational schools, which 
receive the lowest levels of government grants generate up to 
85% of their annual operating costs from private income.

The diverse range of school fees across NSW Catholic schools is 
a reflection of the diversity of geography, socio-economics, the 
differential costs of educating primary and secondary students, 
and the continuing commitment of Catholic schools to providing 
a Catholic education for students from low-income communities 
and educationally disadvantaged circumstances.

CECNSW has no involvement in the determination of fees and 
charges or in their collection.

10.4 Capital Programs
Capital programs are administered by the Catholic Block Grant 
Authority of NSW (CBGA), for which Bishop Peter Comensoli is 
the Bishop’s Delegate for 2016. Members of the CBGA are all 
NSW diocesan Catholic schools’ authorities and a majority of 
NSW Congregational schools. The management of the CBGA is 
delegated to the CBGA Executive Officer, Brian McDonald.

General Capital Grants (Commonwealth) and Building 
Grants Assistance Scheme (NSW)
Expenditure
The CBGA paid out a total of $34.9M is grant payments in 2016. 
Of that amount, $27.2M was paid from the Commonwealth 
Government’s Capital Grants Program and $7.4M paid from the 
State Government’s Building Grants Assistance Scheme. The 
final $0.3M was paid from the Australian Government’s Trade 
Training Centre in Schools Program.
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Projects from the 2016 Application Round
In 2016, the CBGA recommended to the Australian and NSW 
Ministers for Education 24 projects from 38 applications with a 
total grant value of $47.1M. Of these 14 projects with a grant 
value of $31.7M were recommended to the Commonwealth and 
ten projects with a grant value of $15.4. The recommended 
projects with the Commonwealth Minister were approved in 
mid-November, whilst the State Minister for Education usually 
approves projects during February each year.

10.5 State Funding Programs 2016

NSW Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan
The NSW Government made a commitment to implement the 
Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan with funding of $38.8m for 
the NSW Catholic sector across 2012–2016, focused on 
years K–2. 

The plan has the following key implementation elements:

 x personalised learning including the use of tiered 
interventions according to need

 x diagnostic assessment, tracking and reporting student 
performance, and

 x teacher professional development in the classroom under 
the direction of an instructional leader.

In 2015, the NSW Literacy and Numeracy Action Plan began 
funding 99 FTE positions across 109 Catholic schools. These 
schools received $17m over the two-year period 2015–2016 
($11.3m in 2015 and $5.7m in 2016).

Special Needs Support 
In 2009, the NSW Government abolished the Back to School 
allowance and redirected some $20 million to all NSW schools 
through a ‘needy schools’ allocation, based on the February 
census. NSW Catholic schools’ share of these funds in 2016 
was $2.7 million.

CECNSW distributed the funds to Students with A Disability 
(SWD) under the Disability Discrimination Act requiring 
additional assistance according to the same formula developed 
for the Commonwealth-funded SWD program. Funds were 
distributed according to 2015 enrolment data. Eleven Special 
Schools received 9% of these funds apportioned according to 
the former Commonwealth Special Schools allocation.

Vocational Education and Training 
CECNSW receives two annual grants to support the delivery 
of Vocational Education and Training in Catholic secondary 
schools: 

 x Vocational Education and Training in Schools (VETiS) – 
support for Registered Training Organisations (RTOs), and

 x TAFE-delivered VET (TVET).

These grants are an annual appropriation made at the 
discretion of the NSW Minister for Education on the advice 
of the NSW Skills Board. 

As part of the current COAG Funding Agreement for VET, 
CECNSW receives an annual VETiS grant from the NSW 
Department of Education. This grant is for the purpose of 
supporting the implementation of VET courses delivered in 
NSW Catholic schools.

VETiS funds are distributed to dioceses based on the total 
number of students in Stage 6, years 11 and 12 (inclusive of 
Congregational school students where the school is a member 
of the diocesan RTO). Dioceses are required to include 
Congregational schools in both their funding allocations and 
expenditure planning.

In 2016, $1.7 million was expended on VETiS (slightly higher 
than in 2015) and a further $2.7 million was expended on 
externally-delivered Higher School Certificate Vocational 
Education (HSC VET), known as the TVET program and primarily 
delivered through Technical and Further Education (TAFE) 
colleges (again slightly higher than in 2015).

In 2016, HSC VET in Schools enrolments in the Catholic sector 
totalled 11,889 students, based on data sets from BOSTES. 
Total VET course enrolments have decreased to 22,782 
students, down from 23,515 in 2015. (Source: BOS Data 
Warehouse)

Student Wellbeing Programs
Road Safety Education
During 2016, approximately $0.6 million (slightly more than in 
2015) was expended on the NSW Road Safety Education K–12 
program managed by CECNSW on behalf of Roads and Maritime 
Services NSW.

The funding provided by Transport for NSW via the Centre for 
Road Safety (NSWCRS) was distributed as grants to Diocesan 
Catholic schools’ authorities to support the salaries of diocesan 
Road Safety Education Advisors and to help fund professional 
learning activities for teachers. 

10 School Resourcing
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National Schools Chaplaincy Program
In 2015, 98 Catholic schools in eight dioceses and 13 
Congregational schools received annual funding totalling $2m 
to support up to 400 hours of a chaplaincy service for pastoral 
care services to students in each school. The majority of these 
schools received and acquitted an annual grant of $17,400. 
Most of these schools will continue to receive an annual grant 
between $15–20,000 for the next three years. 

Between 2015 and 2018, the pastoral care services of 111 
NSW Catholic schools will be supported by an $8m grant from 
the National Schools Chaplaincy Program.

Before and After School Care Fund 
In early 2015, the NSW Government established the $20m 
Before and After School Care Fund to assist the establishment 
of new out of school hours care services. In 2016, the program 
was broadened to include the expansion of existing services. 
One-off grants of up to $30,000 per school are available. By the 
end of 2016, 28 schools had received $719k in Before and After 
School Care grants. It is expected that the program will continue 
in 2017.
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11.1  Implementation of Amendments to the 
Teacher Accreditation Act 

The Teacher Accreditation Amendment Bill 2014 contained 
provisions relating to:

 x pre-2004 school teachers being required to meet the 
teaching standards and accreditation requirements of the 
Teacher Accreditation Act as administered by BOSTES

 x clearer definition of the requirements for mandatory and 
voluntary accreditation under the Teacher Accreditation Act

 x early childhood teachers being required from 2016 be 
accredited

 x BOSTES’ accreditation of initial and continuing teacher 
professional development courses and programs and 
providers, and

 x the revocation of a teacher’s accreditation by a Teacher 
Accreditation Authority (TAA).

During 2016, CECNSW supported the implementation of the 
above-cited reforms.

The revised child protection legislation requires all existing 
teachers to have a Working with Children Check (WWCC) 
clearance by March 2017 (secondary teachers) and March 2018 
(primary teachers). It also requires employers (schools) to verify 
a teacher’s WWCC clearance.

CECNSW provided advice that non-teaching staff in schools and 
diocesan Catholic schools’ authorities may also need to obtain a 
Working with Children Check (WWCC) depending on the 
classification of each employee position by the Office of the 
NSW Children’s Guardian.

CECNSW continues to support the implementation, monitor 
developments and provide advice regarding compliance 
emanating from this legislation.

11.2  The Australian Education Act 2013 – 
CECNSW Representative Body

Under the Better Schools Implementation Plan, CECNSW was 
required, pursuant to Sections 70 and 89 to 99 of the Australian 
Education Act 2013, to sign a Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with the Commonwealth of Australia as a precondition to 
CECNSW obtaining funding under Section 70 of the Act. The MOU 
was to be signed by February 2014 in order for Commonwealth 
funds to flow to NSW Catholic schools for years 2014 to 2017. 
CECNSW was confirmed as a Non-Government Representative 
Body (NGRB) under Section 91 of the Act.

11.3  Australian Department of Education 
Compliance Certificate – 2015

CECNSW’s agreement with the Australian Government for 
funding under the Australian Education Act 2013 requires 
annual certification of compliance with certain education 
accountability requirements. Dioceses have certified 
compliance across four requirements that relate to: the 
Australian Curriculum; Student background Characteristics 
Data; A to E reporting to parents; and the Australian Teacher 
Performance and Development Framework.

CECNSW completed the online 2015 compliance certificate 
on 6 September 2016.

11.4  Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit 
Commission (ACNC)

Both CECNSW and NCEC have a policy commitment to reducing 
or eliminating the ACNC compliance burden on non-government 
schools. This position is based on the reality that schools are 
already the subject of significant public reporting through both 
BOSTES and ACARA, including MySchool. In addition, all 
non-government schools provided financial reporting to AGDET 
through the FA and FQ processes. 

Since ACNC compliance is a national issue, CECNSW progressed 
its reform objectives through NCEC and the Australian Catholic 
Bishops Conference (ACBC). The ACNC Commissioner has 
indicated her commitment to developing a schools’ reporting 
mechanism based on existing accountability processes 
acceptable to both the ACNC and the Australian Department 
of Education and Training.

11 Legislative Compliance And Monitoring
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11.5  NSW Education Act Section 83C Not-for-
Profit Compliance

Following the enactment of the BOSTES Act in November 2013, 
school registration requirements have been amended to include 
requirements relating to policies and procedures for the proper 
governance of the school. A key obligation under the Act is to 
ensure that all transactions including those involving related 
parties and church agencies are at reasonable market value.

Auditing of schools continued in 2016 as part of the school’s 
regular Registration and Accreditation. 

11.6  Animal Welfare Management 
Arrangements for NSW Catholic Schools

In accordance with the requirements of the NSW Animal Research 
Act 1985, CECNSW is the Accredited Corporation responsible 
for the use of live animals by all NSW Catholic schools.

CECNSW discharges this responsibility through the joint DoE, 
AIS and CECNSW NSW Schools Animal Care and Ethics 
Committee (SACEC).

11.7  BOSTES Service Level Agreement for 
2016 NAPLAN

CECNSW has a role managing NSW Catholic schools’ access to 
NAPLAN. Each year, CECNSW enters into a Service Level 
Agreement with the NSW Test Administration Authority. The 
CECNSW Management and SMART Services Agreement 2016 
NAPLAN includes provision of SMART services to NSW Catholic 
dioceses and schools. NSW DoE continues to have responsibility 
for SMART services.

The 2016 NAPLAN and SMART cost was set at $44.00 per 
student as set out in the agreement.

11.8  CECNSW access to DoE Literacy and 
Numeracy Continuum Statements

Best Start Kindergarten Assessment is an assessment tool for 
kindergarten students developed by the NSW DoE. Integral to 
‘Best Start’ are the DoE Literacy and Numeracy K–10 
Continuum Statements which provide a syllabus-based 
description of literacy and numeracy development K–10.
CECNSW, on behalf of Catholic schools, has an agreement with 
DoE for digital access to the Literacy Continuum K–10 and the 
Numeracy Continuum K–10 to enhance tracking and reporting.

11.9  Copyright Compliance and Schools
CECNSW has responsibility, on behalf of NCEC, in leading 
Catholic sector input to national copyright negotiations in respect 
of the six common Australia-wide copyright licences for schools.

 x Copyright Agency Limited (both print and digital) (CAL)

 x Screenrights 

 x Australian Mechanical Copyright Owners Society Limited 
(AMCOS)

 x Australian Mechanical Copyright Owners Society Limited/
Australian Performing Rights Association (AMCOS/ARIA/
APRA)

 x Australian Performing Rights Association (APRA), and

 x Roadshow.

In total for 2016, CECNSW paid $5.7 million in copyright fees on 
behalf of NSW Catholic schools. These fees were then recovered 
on a per capita basis from NSW diocesan Catholic schools’ 
authorities and Congregational schools.

The Catholic sector continues its engagement with the 
Australian Law Reform Commission Review of the Copyright Act 
and related Government responses. It is anticipated that a 
Copyright Law Reform Bill will be introduced into the Australian 
Parliament around March 2017.

Copyright fees payable to the various collecting societies on 
behalf of copyright owners for 2016, in terms of the copyright 
agreements held by CECNSW on behalf of NSW Catholic schools 
were:

 
Collecting society

Rates payable 2016 
$ per pupil*

AMCOS 0.9514

AMCOS / ARIA / APRA 0.8730

APRA Primary 0.2530  
Secondary 0.3680

CAL (Combined digital & print) 16.934

SCREENRIGHTS* 6.55

ROADSHOW Rate based on size of school 
ranges from $50 to $175

CECNSW also recovered copyright legal advice costs on an FTE share basis.

CECNSW and NCEC copyright issues and negotiations are managed through the 
Australian Education Council Copyright Advisory Group and its supporting National 
Copyright Unit. Advice for schools is then provided through the joint schools 
Smartcopying website (www.smartcopying.edu.au).
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2016 2015
Note $ $

Revenue from Continuing Operations 2 9,525,463 9,385,899

Employee benefits expense 5,003,804 5,111,696

Depreciation and amortisation expense 248,564 402,741

Projects and grant costs 1,628,912 1,079,335

Office services expense 717,175 744,417

Travel expense 306,708 333,684

Information technology expense 1,255,194 1,275,991

Administration  expense 849,721 837,467

Deficit for the year 3 (484,615) (399,432)

Other comprehensive income – –

Total Comprehensive Deficit for the year (484,615) (399,432)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

This Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2016 2015
$ $

Total Equity at the Beginning of the Year 5,030,126 5,429,558

Total Comprehensive Deficit for the Year (484,615) (399,432)

Total Equity at the End of the Year 4,545,511 5,030,126

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2016 2015
Note $ $

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 200,155 77,908

Trade and other receivables 5 522,003 874,471

Other financial assets 6 32,283,292 22,988,424

Other assets 7 206,177 208,540

Total Current Assets 33,211,627 24,149,343

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant & equipment and intangible assets 8 387,553 421,548

Total Non-current Assets 387,553 421,548

Total Assets 33,599,180 24,570,891

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 9 27,328,645 17,989,917

Employee  entitlements 10 1,424,962 1,343,306

Total Current Liabilities 28,753,607 19,333,223

Non-current  liabilities
Employee  entitlements 10 300,062 207,542

Total Non-current Liabilities 300,062 207,542

Total Liabilities 29,053,669 19,540,765

Net Assets 4,545,511 5,030,126

Equity
Establishment Fund 11 1,434,194 1,434,194

Accumulated Funds 12 3,111,317 3,595,932

Total Equity 4,545,511 5,030,126

Statement of Financial Position 
At 31 December 2016

This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Appendix A: Financial Statements | 5

2016 2015
Note $ $

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 9,902,931 8,989,351

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and 
services tax)

(10,021,850) (9,041,336)

(118,919) (51,985)

Interest received 2,768,071 2,422,029

Other revenue 43,971 59,337

Interest paid 2 (2,458,711) (2,179,082)

Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities 14 (a) 234,412 250,299

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant & equipment and intangible assets (245,915) (207,277)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 21,228 45,189

Net cash inflow (outflow) received from (paid to) related entities 14 (b) 315,482 (156,228)

Net cash inflow attributable to government programs 9,091,908 7,596,583

Net Cash Inflow From Investing Activities 9,182,703 7,278,267

Net Increase in Cash Held 9,417,115 7,528,566

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 23,066,332 15,537,766

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 4 32,483,447 23,066,332

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The CECNSW is not incorporated under the Corporations Act 
2001. It is an unincorporated agency of the Trustees of the 
Province of Sydney and Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn 
(the Trustees) under the Roman Catholic Church Community 
Lands Act 1942 and was established in 1974. The Commission 
are the appointees of the Trustees responsible for management 
of CECNSW.

In the opinion of Commissioners, the CECNSW is not a reporting 
entity as the users of its financial report have the ability to 
obtain information not contained in this report. This financial 
report is therefore a "Special Purpose Financial Report" which 
has been prepared to meet the requirements of the CECNSW's 
Charter to prepare financial statements and in accordance with 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012 
("the Act").

Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies 
adopted by Commissioners in the preparation of the financial 
statements. The accounting policies adopted are consistent 
with those of the previous period.

(a) Basis of preparation
As Commissioners are of the opinion that the CECNSW is a 
non-reporting entity, no Accounting Standards have mandatory 
applicability. However, the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with all applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, with the exception of the following:

 (i) Financial Instruments: Disclosure (AASB 7);

 (ii) Related Party Disclosures (AASB 124);

 (iii) Financial Instruments: Presentation (AASB 132).

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention and do not take into account changing 
money values or current valuations of non-current assets. 
Comparative information is reclassified where required to 
enhance comparability.

(b) Transactions as trustee
The CECNSW is the representative body for all New South Wales 
Catholic schools with the Australian and NSW governments and 
their agencies. CECNSW distributes funds allocated under 
government financed education programs with state-wide 

application, co-ordinates the administration of these programs, 
and meets appropriate accountability requirements. In this 
capacity, the CECNSW receives funds from various government 
authorities and distributes those funds to Diocesan Catholic 
Schools Authorities and Congregational schools throughout New 
South Wales. For the management and distribution of capital 
grants for NSW Catholic schools, CECNSW also assists the NSW 
Catholic Block Grant Authority Delegate.

These financial statements reflect that the CECNSW administers 
government funds in its capacity as Trustee. Other than 
disclosed at note 1(m)(iv), the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and cash flows from operating 
activities do not include the financial effect of any funds 
received or disbursed in trust under Government grants except 
to the extent that the CECNSW receives administration fees 
(shown as operating revenue) for management of the grants and 
government grants received by the CECNSW in relation to the 
Students First Support Fund. The CECNSW depends on these 
administration fees from the Australian and NSW governments 
for a significant volume of its revenue. During the 12 months 
ended 31 December 2016, approximately 69% (year ended 
31/12/2015 – 71%) of the CECNSW's revenue from operating 
activities was received from government programs, or 
government grants in relation to the Student First Support Fund.

The funds administered by the CECNSW on behalf of the 
Australian and NSW governments are disclosed in note 15 to 
the financial report.

(c) Other Financial Assets
Negotiable certificates of deposit and bank accepted bills are 
stated at face value less unearned income. Income is brought to 
account on a daily accrual basis.

(d) Depreciation of property, plant & equipment
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off 
the net cost of property, plant and equipment over its expected 
useful life to the CECNSW. Estimates of useful lives are made 
on a regular basis for all assets.

The depreciation rates are:

Leasehold improvements  10% – 17%
Office furniture & equipment 20% – 40%
Motor vehicles   12.5%
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(e) Software Capitalisation
Developed software is stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

Expenditures in relation to the development of identifiable and 
unique software products used by the CECNSW, and that will 
generate probable economic benefits exceeding costs beyond 
one year, are recognised as intangible assets and amortised over 
their estimated useful lives. Capitalised costs include costs of 
software development and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overhead. Expenditures associated with maintaining computer 
software programs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

IT development costs include only those costs directly 
attributable to the development phase and where the entity has 
an intention and ability to use the asset.

Amortisation of software applications is charged to expenses on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, from the 
date they are avaliable for use, that is, when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

The estimated useful life for software is 3 years. Acquired 
computer software licenses are written off in the year in which 
they are incurred.

(f) Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the CECNSW's assets are reviewed at 
each balance date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets's 
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss.

The recoverable amount of assets is the higher of an asset's fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value in use is taken 
to be the depreciated replacement cost of the asset concerned.

(g) Leased non-current assets
A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively 
transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of leased non-current 
assets, and operating leases under which the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all such risks and benefits. All of the 
CECNSW's leases are considered to be operating leases.

Operating lease payments are charged to profit or loss in the 
periods in which they are incurred.

(h) Employee leave entitlements
The amounts expected to be paid to employees for their 
entitlement to annual leave and long service leave within the 
next twelve months are provided for at current pay rates and 
disclosed as current liabilities.

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to balance date. In 
assessing expected future payments the CECNSW has based the 
provision on remuneration rates current for all employees with one 
or more years of service. This method provides an estimate of the 
liability that is not materially different from the estimate that would 
be made by using a present value basis of measurement. Related 
on-costs have also been included in the liability.

The CECNSW has not made a provision for non-vesting sick 
leave as the Commissioners believe it is not probable that 
payment will be required.

(i) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, less any 
allowance for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due 
for settlement within 30 days. Collectability of trade receivables 
is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount 
directly. An allowance for impairment of trade receivables is 
raised when there is objective evidence that the CECNSW will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents include deposits at call and bank term deposits 
which are readily convertible to cash and subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(k) Income Tax
The CECNSW is exempt from paying income tax.

(l) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax ("GST"). Receivables and 
payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian 
Taxation Office ("ATO") is included as a current asset or current 
liability in the Statement of Financial Position. Cash flows are 
included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The 
GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)



8 | Appendix A: Financial Statements

(m) Revenue recognition
 (i) Levies received

Revenue is received from levies charged to schools and 
other entities on an annual basis. Levies charged cover the 
year to 31 December.

 (ii) Administration costs recovered
Administration costs are charged by the CECNSW to the 
various programs that the CECNSW manages, and are 
recognised uniformly throughout the year in which the 
administration services performed by the CECNSW have 
been rendered.

 (iii) Interest received
Interest is recognised as it accrues on a daily basis.

 (iv) Government grants received
On occasions where the CECNSW provides services in 
relation to government grants received, revenue generated 
for specific programs is recognised only to the extent of 
work completed on the programs.

(n) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the CECNSW prior to the end of the financial year. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 
of recognition.

(o) Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. Other than estimating useful lives 
for the purpose of calculating depreciation/amortisation of 
property, plant & equipment and intangible assets, there are no 
areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements.

(p) New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2016 
reporting periods. Commissioners' assessment of the impact of 
these new standards and interpretations (to the extent relevant 
to the CECNSW) is set out below.

 (i)  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 2016–7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral 
of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 2016–8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit 
Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers and AASB 2014–5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 (effective from 
1 January 2019)

AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition 
requirements that appy to Not-for-Profit entities, in 
conjunction with AASB 15. AASB 1058 supersedes all the 
income recognition requirements relating to private sector 
Not-for-Profit entities, and the majority of income 
recognition requirements relating to public sector Not-for-
Profit entities, previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. 
The requirements of AASB 1058 more closely reflect the 
economic reality of Not-for-Profit entity transactions that 
are not contracts with customers.

AASB 15 replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 
Construction Contracts and some revenue-related 
Interpretations, and is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It establishes 
a new control-based revenue recognition model, changes 
the basis for deciding whether revenue is to be recognised 
over time or at a point in time and expands and improves 
disclosure about revenue.

AASB 2016–7 amends the mandatory effective date of 
AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit entities so that AASB 15 is 
required to be applied by such entities for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 instead of 
1 January 2018.

AASB 2016–8 inserts Australian requirements and 
authoritative implementation guidance for not-for-profit 
entities into AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2014) and AASB 
15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying 
those Standards.

Commissioners are yet to undertake a detailed assessment 
of the impact of AASB 1058 and AASB 15. However, based 
on the Commissioners’ preliminary assessment, the 
standard is not expected to have a material impact on the 
transactions and balances recognised in the financial 
statements when they are first adopted for the year ending 
31 December 2019.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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 (ii) AASB 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019)
AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all 
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use 
the underlying leased asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligations to make lease payments.

Commissioners are yet to undertake a detailed assessment 
of the impact of AASB 16. However, based on the 
Commissioners’ preliminary assessment, the standard is 
expected to have a material impact on the assets and 
liabilities recognised in the financial statements when it is 
first adopted for the year ending 31 December 2018.

Commissioners’ assessment of the impact of all other new 
standards and interpretations is that they will not have a 
material impact on this financial report of the CECNSW.

(q) Going concern
Under Australian Auditing Standards, financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis when the entity is 
expected to:

 (a) be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due; and

 (b)  continue in operation without any intention or necessity 
to liquidate or otherwise wind up its operations.

As noted in note 16, subsequent to year end, the Trustees 
resolved to:

 x establish Catholic Schools NSW ("CSNSW") to replace the 
CECNSW as the overarching governance entity for Catholic 
education in NSW;

 x at a point in the future, CSNSW will take over the Approved 
System Authority status and functions currently provided by 
the CECNSW;

 x from 1 July 2017, the Board members of CSNSW will 
replace the current Commission members as 
Commissioners of the CECNSW.

It is expected that the above transition process will take up 
to six months. Following the transition, the operations of the 
CECNSW are expected to be minimal, and it is anticipated that 
the CECNSW will be wound up shortly thereafter.

Accordingly, Commissioners do not consider the CECNSW to be 
a going concern and have prepared the financial report on a 
realisation basis as the Trustees have directed the operations of 
the CECNSW be wound up in the near future. Commissioners 
consider that the CECNSW will have sufficient assets to 
extinguish its liabilities and pay its debts as and when they 
fall due.

Commissioners have applied the requirements of paragraph 25 
of AASB 101 – Presentation of Financial Statements which 
states that “When an entity does not prepare financial 
statements on a going concern basis, it shall disclose that fact, 
together with the basis on which it prepared the financial 
statements and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a 
going concern.”

The decision by the Trustees to wind up the operations of the 
CECNSW was taken subsequent to year end. Any write-down of 
the assets of the CECNSW, if any, will take place subsequent 
to year end, and the amounts of the assets recorded in the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 are 
based on the expected recoverable amount of these assets 
assessed by management and Commissioners as at 31 
December 2016, under the assumption that the CECNSW 
would be continuing as a going concern.

Commissioners have not provided for the present obligation of 
costs expected to be incurred in winding up the CECNSW as they 
do not expect these to be significant.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(p) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)
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2016 2015
$ $

2. Revenue
Levies received 2,553,590 2,410,530

Administration costs recovered 3,217,166 3,304,951

Government grant income 3,400,000 3,400,000

Interest received (see below) 310,736 211,081

Related party accounting fee income – National Catholic Education Commission 37,500 50,000

Other income 6,471 9,337

Revenue from Continuing Operations 9,525,463 9,385,899

The CECNSW received total interest of $2,769,447 (year ended 31/12/2015 – $2,390,163) of which $2,458,711 (year ended 
31/12/2015 – $2,179,082) was applicable to funds held on behalf of government programs and $310,736 (year ended 
31/12/2015 – $211,081) was applicable to the CECNSW’s own funds.

3. Operating Deficit
The operating deficit was determined after charging the following specific amounts:

Amortisation of leasehold improvements and intangibles assets 159,982 327,369

Depreciation of plant and equipment 88,582 75,372

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 10,118 12,400

Rental expense relating to operating leases

 Minimum lease payments 394,460 383,256

Remuneration of Auditors

 Remuneration for audit of the financial report 23,800 23,100

 Remuneration for other audit related work – grant acquittals and grant review 61,100 92,735

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand 200,155 77,908

For the purposes of the Statement of cash flows, cash and  
cash equivalents are made up as follows:

 Cash at bank and on hand 200,155 77,908

 Other financial assets (Note 6) 32,283,292 22,988,424

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Statement of Cash Flows 32,483,447 23,066,332

5. Trade and Other Receivables
Related party current accounts

 National Catholic Education Commission 335,680 521,717

 Professional Standards Resources Group of NSW & ACT 106,384 203,063

Accounts receivable 22,052 21,127

Sundry debtors 57,887 128,564

Total Trade and Other Receivables 522,003 874,471

6. Other Financial Assets
Unsecured

Deposits at call 28,266,781 17,644,061

Term Deposits 4,016,511 5,344,363

Total Other Financial Assets 32,283,292 22,988,424

Of the $28,266,781 (2015 – $17,644,061) deposits at call, $25,496,669 (2015 – $16,404,760) is held on behalf of Government 
Programs, and $649,001 (2015 – $616,235) is held on behalf of the Council of Catholic School Parents.

7. Other Assets
Prepayments 150,073 153,812

Interest receivable 56,104 54,728

Total Other Assets 206,177 208,540

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

8. Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets
Leasehold improvements – at cost 814,911 814,911

Provision for amortisation 797,279 788,787

17,632 26,124

Office furniture, equipment and motor vehicles – at cost 1,115,370 921,211

Provision for depreciation 745,449 677,277

369,921 243,934

Intangibles-Software – at cost 946,535 946,535

Provision for amortisation 946,535 795,045

  – 151,490

Total Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets 387,553 421,548

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial years are set out below.

Intangibles- 
software

Office furniture, 
equipment and 
motor vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements Total

$ $ $

Year ended 31 December 2016

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 151,490 243,934 26,124 421,548

Additions – 245,915 – 245,915

Disposals – (31,346) – (31,346)

Depreciation/amortisation expense (151,490) (88,582) (8,492) (248,564)

Carrying amount at end of year   – 369,921 17,632 387,553

Year ended 31 December 2015

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 464,412 169,618 40,571 674,601

Additions – 207,277 – 207,277

Disposals – (57,589) – (57,589)

Depreciation/amortisation expense (312,922) (75,372) (14,447) (402,741)

Carrying amount at end of year 151,490 243,934 26,124 421,548

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

9. Trade and Other Payables
Funds held on behalf of Government Programs (Note 15) 25,496,669 16,404,760

GST payable 609,639 452,941

Accounts payable 534,997 467,090

Related party current account – Council of Catholic School Parents 649,001 616,235

Other creditors 38,339 48,891

Total Trade and Other Payables 27,328,645 17,989,917

10. Employee Entitlements
Current

Annual Leave 496,846 398,003

Long service leave 928,116 945,303

1,424,962 1,343,306

Non-Current

Long service leave 300,062 207,542

11. Establishment Fund
Establishment Fund at the beginning and end of the year 1,434,194 1,434,194

The CECNSW is governed by a Charter approved by the Trustees. As part of a restructure approved by Commissioners on 13 March 
1986, accumulated funds as at 31 January 1986 amounting to $507,670 were regarded as the Establishment Fund. In May 2003, 
funds of $926,524 held in the name of the Chairman of the CECNSW were transferred to the CECNSW.

12. Accumulated Funds
Accumulated funds at the beginning of the year 3,595,932 3,995,364

Deficit for the year (484,615) (399,432)

Accumulated funds at the end of the year 3,111,317 3,595,932

13. Commitments For Expenditure
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date 
but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year 440,284 427,461

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 230,913 671,197

Commitments not recognised as liabilities in the financial statements 671,197 1,098,658

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

14. Cash Flow Information
(a) Reconciliation of deficit for the period to net cash inflow from operating activities

Deficit for the year (484,615) (399,432)

Depreciation/Amortisation 248,564 402,741

Net loss on disposal of office furniture, equipment and motor vehicles 10,118 12,400

Change in operating assets and liabilities

 Decrease (increase) in receivables 69,752 (131,224)

 Decrease in other assets 2,363 23,583

 Increase in payables 214,054 456,251

 Increase (decrease) in provisions 174,176 (114,020)

Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities 234,412 250,299

(b) Net cash inflow (outflow) received from (paid to) related entities

Professional Standards Resource Group of NSW & ACT 96,679 (72,797)

Council of Catholic School Parents 32,766 (4,907)

National Catholic Education Commission 186,037 (78,524)

315,482 (156,228)

15. Government Funds Administered .

On behalf of the Trustees, the CECNSW signs contracts with the Australian and NSW governments and their agencies for the 
receipt and distribution of school operating and targeted grants. The CECNSW also assists the NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority 
Delegate manage and distribute capital and other block grants. During 2016 the following grants were received and distributed 
through the CECNSW to Diocesan Catholic Schools Authorities and Congregational schools.

Government program funds held at the beginning of year 16,404,760 8,808,177

Funds received from government during the year 2,416,105,655 2,306,507,166

Interest & other income earned by programs 2,486,138 2,525,814

Program funds disbursed during the year (2,403,133,182) (2,311,436,132)

Funds retained for program administration recognised in income (Note 2) (3,217,166) (3,304,951)

Government grants retained for project management (3,400,000) (3,400,000)

Net funds transferred from NSW Catholic Block Grant Authority 250,464 16,704,686

Government program funds held at the end of the year (Note 9) 25,496,669 16,404,760

16. Events Subsequent to Year End
As noted in note 1(q), subsequent to year end, the diocesan bishops resolved to establish CSNSW as the overarching governance 
entity for Catholic education in NSW, and it is expected that the Trustees intend to wind up the operations of the CECNSW in the 
near future.

Under Australian Accounting Standards, an entity shall not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect 
events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (defined as a non-adjusting event after the 
reporting period).

As the decision to cease business and wind up the operations of the CECNSW was taken subsequent to year end, this is 
considered a non-adjusting event after the reporting date and, accordingly, no adjustment has been made to the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements of the CECNSW for the year ended 31 December 2016. At the time of approving these 
financial statements, Commissioners are not aware of any matters which would require any assets of CECNSW to be written down 
as a result of the above.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016
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(a)  the financial statements and notes set out on pages 2 to 14 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, including:

(i)  complying with Accounting Standards as detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements and the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Regulation 2013; and

(ii)  giving a true and fair view of the CECNSW's financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date, and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the CECNSW will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors,

Bishop Peter A Comensoli DD 
Chairman

Dr Brian Croke
Executive Director

Sydney
Dated this 24th day of May 2017

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

Declaration by Commissioners
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

As stated in Note 1 to the financial statement, in the Commissioners' opinion the CECNSW is not a reporting entity because there are 
no users dependent on general purpose financial reports. This is a special purpose financial report that has been prepared to meet 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 requirements and the requirements of the CECNSW Charter.

In the Commissioners' opinion:
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Page 16 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 
 
 
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any 
applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
  
    
 
 
Sydney, NSW HLB Mann Judd 
24 May 2017 Chartered Accountants  
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CATHOLIC EDUCATION COMMISSION, NEW SOUTH WALES 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Catholic Education Commission, New South Wales:   
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report of the Catholic Education Commission, New South Wales (“the 
CECNSW”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the Declaration by Commissioners. 
 
In our opinion,  
 
(a) the accompanying financial report of the CECNSW is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (“ACNC Act”), including:  
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the CECNSW’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1 and the 

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 (“the ACNC Regulation”); 
and 

 
(b) we have been given all information, explanation and assistance necessary for the conduct of the audit; 

 
(c) the CECNSW has kept financial records sufficient to enable a financial report to be prepared and 

audited; and 
 

(d) the CECNSW has kept other records as required by Part 3.2 of the ACNC Act. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the CECNSW in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Material Uncertainty Regarding Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Notes 1(q) and 16 in the financial report, which states that, subsequent to 31 December 
2016, the Commissioners have concluded that the CECNSW is no longer a going concern and the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been prepared on a realisation basis. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter. 
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statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been prepared on a realisation basis. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter. 
 



18 | Appendix A: Financial Statements

 

Page 18 

CATHOLIC EDUCATION COMMISSION, NEW SOUTH WALES 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting  
 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial 
report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC 
Act, the CECNSW’s Charter and the other information needs of the stakeholders of the CECNSW.  As a 
result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of the Commissioners for the Financial Report 
 
The Commissioners are responsible for the preparation of the special purpose financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with the relevant Australian Accounting Standards in accordance with the 
ACNC Regulation and the ACNC Act and for such internal control as the Commissioners determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the special purpose financial report, the Commissioners is responsible for assessing the 
CECNSW’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Commissioners either intend to liquidate the 
CECNSW or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Commissioners are responsible for overseeing the CECNSW’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the CECNSW’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Commissioners.  
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CATHOLIC EDUCATION COMMISSION, NEW SOUTH WALES 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (continued) 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commissioner’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the CECNSW’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the CECNSW to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the Commissioners regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the Commissioners with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
   
 
 
 
HLB Mann Judd A G Smith  
Chartered Accountants Partner 
 
Sydney, NSW  
29 May 2017 
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CATHOLIC EDUCATION COMMISSION, NEW SOUTH WALES 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT 
 
 
Our audit examination was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial report set out 
on pages 2 to 15 inclusive (“the audited financial report”). 
 
The supplementary information set out on pages 21 to 23 is presented for the purposes of additional 
analysis but does not form part of the audited financial report. The information presented is in 
accordance with the accounting records maintained by the CECNSW but amounts stated therein have 
not necessarily been verified as part of our audit examination. 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
Sydney, NSW  HLB Mann Judd 
29 May 2017  Chartered Accountants 
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13.1 Commissioners’ Attendance in 2016
Attendance

Commissioners Nominating Authority Actual Eligible

Jenny Allen 
Executive Director of Schools 
Catholic Education Office 
Diocese of Bathurst

Diocese of Bathurst 10 10

Alan Bowyer 
Director of Schools 
Catholic Schools Office 
Diocese of Wagga Wagga

Diocese of Wagga Wagga 8 10

Ray Collins 
Director of Schools 
Catholic Schools Office 
Diocese of Maitland-Newcastle

Diocese of Maitland-
Newcastle

8 10

David Condon 
Director of Catholic Schools 
Catholic Schools Office 
Diocese of Lismore

Diocese of Lismore 7 10

Sharon Cooke 
Aboriginal Education Consultant 
Catholic Schools Office 
Diocese of Armidale

NSW/ACT Bishops 8 10

Dr Brian Croke 
Executive Director  
CECNSW

Ex Officio 8 8

Linda McNeil 
Executive Director 
Council of Catholic School Parents

Council of Catholic School 
Parents (Metropolitan)

10 10

Bishop Peter Comensoli 
Bishop of Broken Bay (Chairman)

NSW/ACT Bishops 9 10

Mr Peter Hamill 
Director of Schools 
Catholic Schools Office 
Diocese of Broken Bay

Diocese of Broken Bay 10 10

Michele Huggonet Conference of Leaders of 
Religious Institutes (NSW)

7 10

Catherine Ible 
Parent Representative

Council of Catholic School 
Parents (Regional)

10 10

Bishop Michael Kennedy* 
Diocese of Armidale

NSW/ACT Bishops 5 9
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Attendance
Commissioners Nominating Authority Actual Eligible

Michael Egan 
Principal, La Salle College 
Bankstown

Association of Catholic 
School Principals 
(Secondary)

10 10

Anthony Morgan 
Director of Schools 
Catholic Education Office 
Wilcannia-Forbes

Diocese of Wilcannia-
Forbes

9 10

Mark Mowbray 
Principal  
Holy Name Primary School 
Forster

Association of Catholic 
School Principals (Primary)

9 10

Chris Smyth 
Diocesan Director of Schools 
Catholic Schools Office 
Armidale

Diocese of Armidale 9 10

Moira Najdecki 
Director of Education 
Catholic Schools Office 
Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn

Archdiocese of

Canberra and Goulburn 

9 10

Paul Oakley cfc 
President of the Council 
Edmund Rice Education Australia

Conference of Leaders of 
Religious Institutes (NSW)

10 10

Peter Turner 
Director of Schools 
Catholic Education Office 
Diocese of Wollongong

Diocese of Wollongong 10 10

Gregory B Whitby 
Executive Director of Schools 
Catholic Education 
Diocese of Parramatta

Diocese of Parramatta 8 10

Dr Dan White 
Executive Director of Catholic Schools 
Sydney Catholic Schools 
Archdiocese of Sydney

Archdiocese of Sydney 10 10

*Bishop Kennedy resigned prior to the November meeting
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13.2 Representation on State and National Bodies
Full Name Nominated by Committee Committee Host

Ian Baker CECNSW AITSL Professional Growth Network AITSL

CECNSW BoSTES GTIL WORKGROUP BoSTES

CECNSW Catholic Secondary Schools Association (CSSA) Secretary Catholic Secondary Schools’ 
Association NSW

NCEC Copyright Advisory Group Education Council

CECNSW Council of Deans and Education sectors (CODES) NSW DoE

CECNSW Non-government Schools Not-for-Profit Advisory Committee NSW DoE/ Minister

CECNSW NSW Ministerial Student Attendance Working Party NSW DoE

Sally Bannerman1 CECNSW/ 
DoE/AIS

Schools Animal Care and Ethics Committee NSW DoE

Michael Bezzina2 CECNSW BOSTES Research and Development Committee BOSTES

Elizabeth Burke3 CECNSW Indigenous Veteran’s Commemoration Ceremony Committee Department of Veteran’s 
Affairs

Liberty Campbell4 CECNSW NSW Languages Advisory Panel BOSTES

Anne-Maree 
Creenaune5

CECNSW ACARA F–12 Curriculum Reference Group ACARA

CECNSW BOSTES Research and Development Committee BOSTES

Brian Croke NCEC ACER ACER

CECNSW BOSTES Board of Directors BOSTES

Personal Education Services Australia Education Services Australia

CECNSW NCEC NCEC

NSW Minister 
for Education

Schools Advisory Council NSW Minister for Education

 1. Advisor, Animal Welfare in Schools, NSW Department of Education (funded cross-sectorally)

 2. Director, Teaching and Learning, Sydney Catholic Schools

 3. Aboriginal Education Advisor, Sydney Catholic Schools

 4. Languages Advisor, Catholic Schools Office, Broken Bay

 5. Senior Professional Officer, Education Policy, Catholic Education Office, Wollongong
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Full Name Nominated by Committee Committee Host

Gerard Delany NCEC National Career Development Working Group Australian Govt Department 
of Education

CECNSW Agriculture Education Review Working Group NSW DoE

CECNSW Application Review Committee NSW DoE

CECNSW Industry Curriculum Implementation Committee NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Schools Consortium Group NSW DoE

CECNSW Opportunity Hub Steering Committee NSW DoE

CECNSW Vocational Education and Training Advisory Group BOSTES

Karen Ferrante CECNSW Delivery of Online testing Working Group NSW DoE

CECNSW Literacy and Numeracy Strategy Implementation Working 
Group

NSW DoE

NCEC Marking Quality Team (MQT) – NAPLAN Writing only ACARA

CECNSW NAPLAN Delivery to NSW Catholic schools working group BOSTES

CECNSW NAPLAN Online Communications NSW DoE

NCEC National Testing Working Group (NTWG) ACARA

NCEC NCEC Online Assessment Working Group NCEC

CECNSW Validation of Assessment for Learning and Individual 
Development reference Group

NSW DoE

Peter Grace CECNSW Catholic Secondary Schools’ Association Executive 
Committee

Catholic Secondary Schools’ 
Association NSW

CECNSW Harmony Day Poster and Song Writing Competition 
Committee

Moving Forward Together 
Association

CECNSW Healthy Children’s Initiative School Advisory Committee NSW Ministry of Health

CECNSW Keep Them Safe Senior Officers’ Group Educational Neglect 
Sub-group

NSW DoE

CECNSW Mindmatters/Kidsmatter Reference Group Principals Australia Institute

CECNSW NSW Child Development Study Implementation Committee University of NSW

CECNSW NSW Skin Cancer Prevention Advisory Committee NSW Cancer Institute

CECNSW Out-of-Home-Care Education Pathway Working Group NSW Department of Family 
and Community Services

CECNSW Peer Support Australia Consultative Group Peer Support Australia

CECNSW Road Safety Education Joint Planning Committee Transport for NSW

CECNSW School-based Vaccination Program Committee NSW Ministry of Health
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Full Name Nominated by Committee Committee Host

Geraldine Gray NCEC ACARA Students with Disability Reference group ACARA

CECNSW ADHC Transition Support Project for Students with Disability Family and Community 
Services

CECNSW BOSTES Board Endorsed alternative education Programs 
Board Endorsement Panel

BOSTES

CECNSW BOSTES Special Education Advisory committee BOSTES

CECNSW Br John Taylor Memorial Prize Selection Panel BOSTES

CECNSW CHERI Education reference panel Children’s Hospital 
Westmead

CECNSW NSW Cross Sector Committee for the Implementation of 
NDIS

NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Management Committee Positive Partnership Initiative Australian Govt Department 
of Education

CECNSW Steering Committee for NSW Centre for Effective Reading NSW DoE

NCEC Technical and Data Subgroup – SCEEC Joint Working Group 
to provide advice on Reform for Students with Disability

Australian Govt Department 
of Education

CECNSW University of Sydney “Successful Learning” panel University of Sydney

Bob Knight6 NCEC VET in Schools Working Group Australian Govt Department 
of Education

Tony McArthur CECNSW NSW Student Exchange Committee NSW DoE

Tony McArthur CECNSW RSL and Schools Remember Anzac Committee RSL

Tony McArthur CECNSW Veterans’ Children’s Education Board Australian Department 
of Veterans Affairs

Brian McDonald CECNSW Senior Finance Officers Forum NCEC

CECNSW DoE & Non-government Schools Committee NSW DoE

Jayde Mills NCEC Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander Education Advisory 
Group (ATSIEAG)

Education Council

ACARA Aboriginal Education Advisory Committee ACARA

CECNSW Aboriginal Education Advisory Committee Jarjum College Redfern

CECNSW BOSTES Aboriginal Education Advisory Committee BOSTES

CECNSW Indigenous Veteran’s Commemoration Ceremony Committee Department of Veteran’s 
Affairs

Darlene Murdoch7 CECNSW BOSTES Aboriginal Education Advisory Committee BOSTES

6. Queensland Catholic Education Commission

7. Aborigional Education Advisor, Catholic Education Office, Bathurst

Note: All representatives except those footnoted are members of the CECNSW Secretariat.
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Full Name Nominated by Committee Committee Host

Rosalie Nott CECNSW University of Notre Dame School of Education Advisory 
Board

UNDA

NCEC ACARA National Assessment, Data, Analysis and Reporting 
Reference Group

ACARA

NCEC ACARA Student Attendance Data Working Group ACARA

CECNSW Before and After School Care Committee NSW DoE

CECNSW MyScience Research Project ACU

CECNSW NCEC Online Assessment Working Group NCEC

CECNSW NSW Community Languages Schools Board NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Cross Sector HSIE Committee NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW DEC Early Childhood Education and Care Reference 
Group

NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Literacy and Numeracy Steering Group NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Ministerial Advisory Group on Literacy and Numeracy NSW Minister for Education

CECNSW NSW Ministerial Student Attendance Working Party NSW DoE

CECNSW NSW Working Group for the Delivery of Online Testing NSW DoE

Catholic Teachers Accrediting Authorities (TAAs) BOSTES

Paul Rodney8 CECNSW Schools Consortium NSW DoE

Crichton Smith Non-
Government 
Schools sector

DSG Early Childhood Data Strategy Sub-Group AEEYSOC

NCEC Data Strategy Working Party NCEC

8. Consultant to CECNSW

Note: All representatives except those footnoted are members of the CECNSW Secretariat.
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Level 9, 133 Liverpool Street
Sydney NSW 2000
02 9287 1555

PO Box 20768
World Square NSW 2002

www.cecnsw.catholic.edu.au
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